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[. INTRODUCTION

OnMay 20, 2015, RlatorPCA Integrity Associatesl.LP (“PCA Integrity” or “Relator”)

filed this lawsuit pursuanto thequi tamprovision of theFalseClaimsAct (“‘FCA”), 31 U.S.C. §

3730(b)(1). SeeCompl.ECFNo. 1. Relatoris alimited liability partnershighatconsists of

threeunnamedartnerswith “personalknowledge of théalseclaims,statementsand

concealmentalleged” Am. Compl. § 7ECFNo. 54,basedon participationin anunidentified

privatecollectionagency(*PCA”) “initiative workingfor certainPCAs” andRelator’s

“independent investigatiotm uncoverfalseclaims,”id.  29. Theallegedfalseclaimsarisefrom

Defendantstondict pursuanto amulti-yearcontractawardedoy the Departmenbf Education

(“ED”). More specifically,PCA Integrity contendghatthreeclustersof Defendants, consisting

of groups ofprime contractors, subcontractoesidassociate@ntitiesthatit labels*co-

conspiratobusinesses,alongwith unnamedlohnDoe Defendantsgefrauddthe government

Doc. 115

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2015cv00750/171863/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2015cv00750/171863/115/
https://dockets.justia.com/

of fundsthatwereintendedor smallbusinesses under ttermsof ED taskordersawardedo
PCA primecontractors After the governmerdeclinedto intervenen this suitin October2018,
Relatorfiled anamendedtomplaint orMarch 28, 2019jn whichit removedseveraldefendants,
addedwo newallegedlyaffiliated businesseasdefendantsandreassertedour counts undeie
FCA for: (1) falsepresentation/falssubmissiorof aclaim (31 U.S.C. 83729(a)(1)(A));(2) false
representatiof31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(B)){(3) so-called“reversé falseclaims(31U.S.C. §
3729(a)(1)(G))and(4) conspiracyto violatethe FCA (U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(C)) Eachof the
currentDefendantsnovedto dismissRelator’sclaims For the reasonsetforth below, the Court
grantsDefendantsmotions, bugivesRelatorleaveto file anamendedomplaint?

[I. BACKGROUND

A. Factual History 2

1. RegulatoryBackground
a. ED’s DebtCollectionServiceContracting
This disputearisesfrom ED taskordersissuedo prime contractoraspartof its debt-

collectionandmaintenanc@rogram. SeeAm. Compl.f16, 9-13. For nearlyfour decadesa
division of ED knownasFederalStudentAid (“FSA”) hasreliedon PCA contractorgo collect
andresolvedefaultedstudent loansld. { 6. ED contractors must complyith applicable
FederalAcquisition Regulationg“FAR”), 48 C.F.R. 88 Etseq, andalsowith ED’s Acquisition

Regulations, 48 C.F.R8 3400etseq. Id. T 47. Within ED’s FSA, theDebtCollectionService

1 Although several Defendants request an oral hearing, the allowance of sunpshisari
“within the discretion of the Court.” LCvR 7(fBecause the partieg/ritten briefingsare
sufficient to resolve the instant motions, the Court declines to condaldtearings.

2 At the motion to dismiss stage, the Cotigws the evidence in the light most favorable
to Plaintiff. SeeUnited States v. Philip Morris Inc116 F. Supp. 2d 131, 135 (D.D.C. 2000)
(“At the motion to dismiss stage, the only relevant factual allegations are the plaanidfthey
must be presumed to be trye.”



(“DCS”) managescollection activities,includingPCA contractors.”ld. { 49. DCSis locatedin
WashingtonD.C. Id. Its ContractServiceBranch,which “monitors theperformancef the
PCA contractors,’Is basedn Atlanta, Georgia. ld. DCScontractsareissuedviataskorders,
which serveas“ED’s contractundertheumbrellaof the” GeneralServicesAdministration’s
schalule contractwhich permits“ED andotherfederalagencies . . [to] placeorders.” Id. § 50.
Thesecontractuataskorders‘containterms,conditionsandwork requirementsywhich are
definedin a Statemenbf Work.” Id. Potentialcontractorssubmit proposals responsé¢o ED
solicitations. Seeid. 1950-52 (discussingrocesdy which “[o]ffers leadingto contract
award$ areevaluated).ED’s contractingofficers evaluateproposaldasedon factorsthat
includepastperformancesmall businesparticipation,andpricing by “two separatganels:
small businesandunrestricted.”ld. § 51.

Oncetaskordersareawarded, bcausd=D PCA contractsare“performancebasedand
highly competitive,’theyaresubjectto a rigorous’'measuremenandrewardsystemdesignedo
align” ED andPCA nterests.Id. 1 53. Themetricappliedis the CompetitivePerformanceand
ContinuousSurveillancg“CPCS”) rankings.ld. CPSCscoregnatter togovernmentontractors
because¢helongtermscores‘are usedto determinegpastperformancendawardextensions,”
andthescoresarealsousedto assesa particularPCA’s performanceelativeto otherPCAsand
therebyallocatequarterlybonuses.ld. 1 54, 56.The CPCSscoreis measureaut of 100
points,with 10 pointsallocatedbasedon administrativeresolutions, 20 pointallocatedbasedon
total accountsservicedand 70 pointsillocatedbasedon dollarscollected. Id. In addition,
becausehe SmallBusinessct “encourageprime contractorso awardsubcontractto small
companies,tertainED PCAtaskorders—like the onestissuein this suit—containincentives

for prime contractorgo subcontract aercentagef theirwork to smallbusinesgoncerns.Id.



7. Thesencentivescantaketheform of additional pointeddedo theprime contractor'sCPCS
ranking. Id. ¥ 55.

Additionally, in furtherance of the governmengéfortsto help “ensurethe continued
vitality of smallbusinessesjd. § 2,ED offerssmall businesses the opportunityeither
subcontractvith existingED PCA contractorsor to contractdirectly via small businessetaside
contractsjd. 1 57. Wheresubcontractingccurs the subcontract@ervesasa “vendorto ED
PCA prime contractordo work oncorecollectionservices.” Id.

OnMay 29, 2008ED issuedthePCA solicitationonwhich this caseis based
SolicitationNo. ED-08-R-0052.1d.  52. Interesteccompaniesubmittedproposaldy June 26,
2008. 1d. A total of twenty-two PCAsreceivedED contractye.g.,taskorders). Id. Of the
PCAsreceivingsuchtaskorders seventeemvere“unrestricted”in size,andfive weresmall, or
“set-aside”’PCAs id., reflectingthe government’sffortsto provide“setasidecontracts. . .
exclusivelyfor smallbusinesse® bid on,”id. § 23 While thetaskorderswereactive,ED
providedincentivesfor prime contractorgo subcontractno lessthan10% oftheirwork to small
businessoncerns’by adding dive-point bonudo the CPCSscoreof anysuchPCA. Id.  55.
“The first transferof accounts undehis contractoccurredn thefirst quarter of 2009,id. 1 52,
andthetaskorderspertainingto unrestricted® CAsconcludedn late April 2015,id. § 60. Onan
unspecifieddate five PCAsreceivedatwo-yearextension of the originahskorder,including,
asrelevanthere,Defendant Continent&@erviceGroup. Id.

Beforethe conclusion of theontractshatwereissuedn 2009,ED solicitedandawarded
additionaltaskorders. First,in July 2013 seekingto develop‘task ordersreplacingboth those

awardedn 2009,”ED publishedSolicitationNo. ED-FSA-13-R-0010.1d. { 61. This

3 Relator does not specify which of the PCA contractors received which form of task
order resulting from the 2008 ED solicitation.



procurementvascancelledn 2018,“in partbecaus¢ED] hadlearnedof” the “widespreadsmall
businesdgraud” allegedin this lawsuit. Id. I 62. SeparatelylD awardedhew debteollection
taskorderssetasidespecificallyfor smallbusinessesm Septembe014. Id.  59. Defendant
“Co-Conspirator'Bass& AssociatesP.C.wasawardedone ofthese2014taskorders. Id.
Beforedescribingthe Defendantgdentitiesin moredetail,the Courwill briefly summarizehe
relevantprinciplesof federalsmall businesgontractinghatunderpinRelator'scontentions.

b. Small Busines&ct andFederalContracting

The SmallBusinesct (“SBA”) aimsto providesmallcompaniesvith “the maximum
practicableopportunityto participatein the performancebf federalcontracts. Id. § 63 (quoting
15 U.S.C. &37(d)(1)). To ensurecompliancewith this objective,the SBA requireshat—unless
otherwisespecified—languageconcerninghefederalgovernment'gjoalbeincludedin every
federalprimecontract. Id.  64. Eachfederalprime contractmustalsoinclude the following
clause![tlhe contractoherebyagreeso carryoutthis policyin the awarding of subcontradts
thefullest extentconsistentvith theefficient performancef this contract.” Id. (quoting 15
U.S.C. §8637(d)(3)).

Furthermoreto be eligible to receive a contract, e&etieralprime contractowho meets
a threshold dollar amount must submit additionaterialsto the governmentld. { 69(citing
15 U.S.C. $37(d)(4)(C);49 C.F.R. § 19.702)Suchprime contractoranust submit a
subcontractinglanto therelevantcontracting agencthat (1) stategheprime contractor’s
“percentageyoalsfor theutilization” of smallbusinessesd. { 65 (quoting 15 U.S.C. §
637(d)(4),(d)(6)),and(2) states'the total dollars plannedo be subcontracteahda statemenof

thetotal dollars plannedo be subcontracted t@mallbusinesseandother disadvantaged

businessesd. 1 66 (quoting 49 C.F.R. 8 19.704(a)(2)). A subcontragilagby aprime



contractorwhose bids accepteds “includedin andmadeamaterialpartof the contract.”ld.
71 (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 637(d)(4)(B9mphasisemoved)). Controllindederalregulationsalso
requirethefederalprime contractorto submitsemtannual reportthatdetaileachof its
subcontractsvith smallbusinesseand“the extentof its compliancewith its smallbusiness
subcontracting plan.’ld. 1 68(citing 49C.F.R.8§ 52.2199). The“failure of anycontractoror
subcontractoto complyin goodfaith with,” inter alia, “any planrequiredof suchcontractor
pursuanto the authority of [15 U.S.C. § 637suchasthe previouslydescribedsubcontracting
plan,is “a materialbreachof suchcontractor subcontracandmay beconsideredn anypast
performancesvaluationof the contractor.” 15 U.S.C. 8§ 63lj(9); seealsoAm. Compl. § 81
(citing 15 U.S.C. $37(d)(9);48 C.F.R. § 52.219¢k)).

For purposes oassessingligibility for governmentontractsthesizeof a business
determinedy federalregulation. Seel3 C.F.R. § 121.10(defining SBA sizestandardshat
determiné'whethera businesentity is smallandthus,eligible for Governmenprogramsand
preferenceseservedor ‘small businesstoncerns”). The North Americanindustry
ClassificationSystem(“NAICS”) definestherelevantsizestandardby industry. Id. Forfederal
governmentontractingprograms;a concernrmustnotexceedhesizestandardor theNAICS
codespecifiedin thesolicitation” Id. § 121.402seealsoAm. Compl. 1 83citing 13 C.F.R. 88
121.401-413).To determinethesizeof a concern, SBA counts theeceiptsemployeesor
othermeasuref sizeof theconcernwhosesizeis atissug” aswell asthose ofanyof its
affiliates. 13 C.F.R. § 121.103(a)(6&eealsoAm. Compl. T 84citing 13 C.F.R. §
121103(a)(6).

In this case the industrythatappliesto ED’s PCAstaskordersis “debt collection

services,'whichis classifiedasNAICS code561440. Am. Compl. I 85.Fromthetime of the



initial ED taskorderawardedn early2009,id. { 52, untilJanuary7, 2013, aoncerncould
gualify asasmall busines®ntity pursuanto this codeif its averageannualreceiptsotaledno
morethan$7 million over the mostecentthreeyearperiod,id. § 85. FromJanuary7, 2013to
July 2014, the operativ@zestandardor NAICS code 56144ncreasedo $14million, andon
July 14, 2014it increasedo $15million. Id. An individual businesgs deemedffiliated with
anotherentity for thesesizecalculations'when one controls ohasthepowerto control the

other, or ahird party or partiescontrols omasthe powerto control both.” 13 C.F.R. § 121.103;
Am. Compl. T 89citing 13 C.F.R. § 121.1@8), U.S.SmallBus. Admin., A Handbook for Small
Business Liaiso®fficers(* SBLOHandbookK) 16 (2010),
https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/articles/Small_Business_Liaisoice®ffSBLO) Handb
ook_6_2010.pdf* Thereis nofirm rule to makesuchan affiliation determinationrather,it is
basedon theSBA'’s consideration ofthe totality of thecircumstances,including ‘factorssuch
asownershipmanagemengrevious relationshipwith or tiesto anotherconcernand
contractuakelationships.” 13 C.F.R. § 121.1@%2),(a)(5); seealsoAm. Compl. 1 92
(discussing applicable regulations).

The question offéiliation is attheheartof Relator’sallegationsn the instansuit.
Affiliation determinationsffecta business’size,anddeterminationgoncerninghesizeof a
businessffecteligibility for particularcontractingand/or subcontracting opportunitieSee13
C.F.R. 8§ 121.402Am. Compl. 1 86. Thus, tstatewhatis perhapobvious,determining
whethera businesg smallrequiresconsideratiorof anyaffiliation. Here,Relator’'sallegations
of fraudhingeon the contentiothatseveraED PCA prime contractorsandtheir associated

subcontractorsoncealedhefactthatthe purportedlymall business subcontractosere

4 Relator also cites to 49 C.F.R. § 19.101: however, because Title 49 refers to
transportation and because it contains no Section 19, the Court omits this citation.



affiliated with “co-conspiratorlargerbusinessesmaking themineligible to be claimedassmall
businesseby theprime contractors on thED PCAtaskorders.” Am. Compl. 1 9.To
contextualizehedetailsof Relator’sfactualallegationsandassociatedlaimsfor relief, the
Courtnextdescribeghe partiesandtherelationshipamongthem
2. TheParties
a. Relator
RelatorPCA Integrityis agenerapartnershipegisteredn Delaware.Id. I 26. This
entityis “not distinctfrom its [three] partners,” who havépersonalknowledge of théalse
claims,statementsandconcealmentsalleged. Id. T 27. Relatoridentifiesitself as“participants
in thePCA initiative workingfor certainPCAS” which providedRelatorwith “direct knowledge
of the conducalleged”thatit alsobuilt up throughan“independentnvestigationto uncover
falseclaimssubmittedto theUnited States.” Id.  29. Accordingly, PCA Integrity aversthatit
is anoriginal source of non-publiclgisclosednformationunderpinninghe claims,whichit
voluntarily providedo the governmenteforefiling a complainin this suit. 1d. 71 28-29.
b. Defendants
PCA Integrity bringsclaimsagainsthreeclustersof Defendantswith eachgroup
consisting of grime contractora subcontractor, arahallegedlyaffiliated “co-conspirator”
business? Id. T 9.
More specifically,theoperativeamendedomplaint lodgesillegationsagainsthe

following groups of Defendants:

® In clustering Defendants in this manner, the Court follows Relator’s leadgleétdiry,
seeAm. Compl. 1 9 (describing “three distinct groups” of Defendants), and in thegstflits
oppositions to Defendants’ motions to dismgseECF Nos. 95, 96, 97 (grouping oppositions to
Defendants’ arguments into three clusteSge alsdart.Mot. Leave to File Omnibus Briefs in
Opposition 1, ECF No. 94 (identifying “three groups of Defendants” consisting of a prim
contractor, a subcontractor, and an allegedly affiliated business for each group).



Group 1

Group 2

Group 3

Alorica, Inc. (“Alorica”) /

Continental GlobalReceivables
ServiceGroup, PioneerCredit : » ”
. Solutions,Inc. (“GRSI"),
Prime Contractor Inc.,d/b/a Recovery/nc.
“Di " f/lk/la WestAsset
ConServe (“Pioneer”)
(“ConServe”) Managementinc.
(“WAM”) 7

ProtocolFinancial

EdgewateiConsulting
Group,LLC, d/b/a

Uniquity Financial LLC

Subcontractor S(eF:\r/g;choLlc): EdgewateFinancial (“Uniquity™)
Serviceg“Edgewater”)
Allggedly State(;ollectlon Bass& AssociatesP.C. ProfessionaRecovery
Affiliated Services)nc. » ) « d
. ” " (“Bass”) Consultats, Inc. (“PRC)
Business (“State”)

In Group 1, ConServe,@llectionandaccountseceivablenanagemergervices
providerthatis headquartereoh New York, wasthe prime contractowith ED. Id. § 30-31.
ConServé'specializesn the higher educatiomarket.” Id. § 30. The subcontractor defendaint
this clusteris Protocol, a Wisconsibaseddebtcollectionfirm thatwasincorporatedn 2009and

“identifies itself asa 100%womanownedbusiness$ocatedin a[traditionally economically

® Relator's amended complaint removed seM@efendants and added two new
allegedlyaffiliated businesses, Professional Recovery, Inc. and State Coll8etivice, Inc.as
Defendants.CompareCompl. 1-2, ECF No. lyith Am. Compl. 1-2. The Court considers only
thefacts and allegations presentadhe amended complaingeePinson v. U.S. Depof
Justice 69 F. Supp. 3d 108, 113 (D.D.C. 2Q1diting Owens v. Republic of Sudat,2 F. Supp.
2d 99, 117 (D.D.C .2006aff'd and remanded on other groun&31 F.3d 884 (D.C. Cir. 2008);

6 Charles A. Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kan&gederal Practice and Procedu&1476
(3d ed.)(*Once an amended pleading is interposed, the original pleading no longer perfprms a
function in the cas®.

" The original prime contractor for this group was WAM, which was at the time a
division of West Corporation. Am. Compl. 1§ 32-33. Alorica acquired West Corporation’s
“agent services business, including [WAM],” in January 20d.9] 32, and WAM was
subsequently rebranded as GR&IJ 35. The Court discusses Relator and Alorica/GRSI’s joint
motion to dismiss claims against Defendant West Corporation, ECF Nafra®Rart IV.A. For
expositional clarity, the Court refers to WAM in discussing the factuegations that involve
this prime contractor, since WAM was the operative entity at the time of thiselkeged.



disadvantagediiUBZone”8 Id.  37. The Chief ExecutiveOfficer (“CEQ”) of Protocolis Tina
Hansonandits Presidents Tracy Dudek, “both of whom hold keynanagemenpositionswith
DefendantState.” Id. Theallegedlyaffiliated businessState,is a debtcollectionfirm thatis
headquartereth Wisconsin Id. T 40. Stateis run by Tom Haag,Tina Hanson’s‘longtime
domestigpartner.” Id.

In Group 2,Pioneera debicollectionfirm with officesin Florida,New JerseyandNew
York andheadquarters New York, wastheprime contractowith ED. Id. { 36. The
subcontractodefendantn this clusteris Edgewatera debtcollectionservicesproviderthat
operateout oftwo branchesn Washington &te(incorporated 201ndArizona (incorporated
2011). Id. 1 39. Theallegedlyaffiliated businessBass,is a“womanownedbankruptcyand
collectionsfirm” headquarteresh Arizona. Id. { 42. PatriciaHoskinsBassfoundedBassin
1990andservesasits PresidenandCEO. Id. TheBassandEdgewateheadquarterarelocated
nextdoorto one anothein Tucson, Arizonald. 1 270.

In Group 3WAM is anaccountsreceivablenanagemergervicegroviderthat“has
providedcollectionservicedor therecoveryof governmenandhighereducationdebtfor overa
decade.”ld. { 33. Theparentcorporation othis entity at thetime of theoriginal ED contract
wasWestCorporationwhichis headquarteresh Nebraska.ld.  32. The subcontractor
defendantn this clusteris Uniquity, a debtollectionfirm createdn 2011thatis headquartered
in Texasandhasofficesin North Carolina. Id. § 38. Uniquityis led by its PresidentJamie
MichaelCameronandGeoffreyMiller andStepherMiller are“Members.” Id. Theallegedly

affiliated businessPRC “provides debtollectionandrecoveryservicesto multiple sectors,

8 The HUBZone program was created by the Small Business Act of 1997 to set aside
contracts for small businesdesated in areas that have traditionally “suffered from a lack of
investment.” Am. Compl. 1 102-104 (quoting S. Rep. No. 105-62, at 25 (1997)) (citing 13
C.F.R. § 126.200).

10



including the governmentd. § 41. PRCwasfoundedin 1979by CEO StepherMiller, andhis
sonGeoffreyMiller is its President.ld. PRCis headquartereoh North Carolinaat thesame
address2700Meridian Parkway,Suite 200,thathouses one of Uniquitysffices 1d. 1138, 41.

In additionto thesenamedDefendantsRelator'samendedomplaintalsobringsclaims
against'JohnDoes#1-50,” a groughat consists of “individuals, corporatiorsnited liability
companiespartnershipgrusts,or othedawful businesentitiesthroughwhich Defendantslo
businessandwho areunknownco-conspirators who conspiredth Defendantdo perpetuate
the” allegedschemeid. 1 43,andtherebycausehe United Statego suffer“financial harm,”id.
1 45. No furtherdetailsareprovided concerning the JoRoe Defendants.

3. Relator’'sAllegations

As its grouping ofDefendantsuggestsRkRelator’sfactualallegationsnvolve actions
takenby threedistinctclustersof prime contractorssubcontractorgndallegedlyassociated
businessesThebasic form of the schenmgthe samein broad strokesacrosseachof the
categoriegprime contractors, subcontractoes)dallegedlyassociatetbusinessesihough the
precisemeandy which Relatorallegest occurreds uniqueto eachDefendant. Thus, the Court
will discusRelator’sfactualallegationsconcerningeachof thesecategoies beforedetailingthe
specificfactualallegationsconcerningeachindividual Defendant.

a. Factual Allegations Regarding Categories of Defendants

First, Relatorallegesthateachof the prime contractors—ConServéyYAM, and
Pioneer—"defraudedthe governmertby falselyclaimingcreditfor awardingmillions of dollars
in subcontract$o businessethatwere,in fact, otherthansmall.” 1d. § 10. This scheme

benefitedtheseprime contractordecausesubmission offalse certificationsto the government”

11



permittedeachprime contractorto receivea highetCPCSscore. Id. As aresult,the
government:
was induced to (1) believe that the Prime Contractor Defendantsvere in
compliancewith their small business subcontracting plati8) awardsubsequent
task order extensions,nvitations to compete on a now-outstandingD
solicitationfor thesameservicesand,in the caseof ConServean additionaltwo-
yearawardextensionj3) payPrime ContractorDefendantsnillions of dollarsin
contractuallymandatednonetarybonusesand(4) provide those Defendantsth
additional business volumegsultingin higher revenueandprofits.
Id. § 11.
In furtherance othis schemepPefendantsmadenumerousnaterialfalsestatementand
certifications”to the governmentld. § 13. Forone,therequiredsubcontracting plans
thattheprime contractorseachsubmittedto ED “falsely representethattheyintendedo
complyin goodfaith with their Subcontracting Plans.Id. In addition,theseprime
contractor defendassubmitted‘monthly invoicereports. . .for work allegedly
performedoy smallbusinessesaswell as“mandatoryreportsto the Government
regardingheir utilization of small businessem their subcontracts.”ld.
SecondRelatorallegeshateachof the subcontractor defendants—Protocol,
EdgewaterandUniquity—falselyrepresentethemselveso the governmeny claiming
eligibility for “awardson smallbusiness subcontraatdientheywere,in fact, ineligible
becauseachnamedPrime ContractoDefendantand/orCo-ConspiratoiDefendantvas
‘affiliated’ with eachof their respectiveéSubcontractoDefendantainderSBA rulesand
regulations.”ld. § 14. Eachsubcontractor defendansegl-certificationthatit wasa
small businessed the United Statego pay theassociategrime contractordefendant,

“which thensubcontractedork anddivertedcompensationto the subcontractor

defendant.Id.

12



Finally, Relatorallegesthateachof the “co-conspirator” defendantsState Bass,
andPRC—"were affiliated with their respectiveSubcontractoDefendants Id. { 16.
Becauseheseentitieswereaffiliated, the subcontractor defendamisre“ineligible small
businesse®r purpose®f thespecialsubcontractingreferencesinderthe ED PCA task
orders.” Id.

At bottom, thenall of theallegedfraudacrosshethreecategorieof Defendants
hinges on théactualallegationof undisclosedffiliation andassociatedubmissiorof
falseclaimsand/ or misrepresentationsoncerning businessze. The Courtnext
summarize®Relator’sfactualallegationsconcerningeachof the Defendants, beginning
with theprime contractor dfendanin thefirst group,thendiscussing the othentitiesin
thatgroup,andthenrepeatinghis patternfor the secondandthird groups.

b. Factual Allegations Regarding Defendants
i. Group 1: ConServe, ProtocahdState

Onanunspecifieddate,prime contractor dfendaniConServeeceivedthe GSA contract
that“led to theawardof theED PCAtaskorder.” Id. { 132. ConServeas“requiredto
establisrandimplementa smallbusiness subcontracting plamhichit “committedto
implementing”in goodfaith. Id.; seealso id.{ 134. This plan,which “representedhata portion
of thework it subcontracted woulgo to smallbusinesss” id. 134 ,was“incorporatednto the
ED PCAtaskorderby referenceandmadea materialpartof thecontract,”id. § 132. Thereafter,
with anawarenessf ED’s CPCSincentivesfor small businesgontracting,ConServeawardeda
subcontracto Protocol under thED PCAtaskorder. Id.  133. Protocdiled annualself-
certificationswith the SBA indicatingits statusasa small businesswith the mostecentself

certificationmadein 2014. Id. 1Y186-87.

13



Protocolsharedothlocationandpersonnelvith State. Thetwo businesses have the
sameaddressid. T 140, and the point @bntactfor Protocol’s onlinecertificationin a
governmentatabaseSAM.gov,is theexecutiveadministratoiat State,id.  141. Protocol’s
upperievel managemenimoreover, consists geveralindividualswho arealsoinvolvedwith
State. Id. 1138-39. “Forexample,Tina Hansons the Co-OwnerandCEO of Protocolwhile
alsoservingasExecutive[Vice Presiden{“VP")] andChief StrategyOfficer for State.
Meanwhile, Tracy Dudekservesasthe Co-OwnerandPresidenbpf Protocolwhile
simultaneously workingsthe VP of Operationst State.” Id. § 138. Ms. Hansori'frequently
holdsherselfoutasarepresentativéor State”in industryeventsandmeetings,'going evenso
far ashanding out businessrds”thatlist her“seniormanagemenpositionat State. Id. I 139;
seealso id.f 146 (notingVis. Hanson’s nominatiofor anawardandrelatingher conversation
with Statecolleaguesliscussingvhy “she shouldacceptheawardasa Protocoemployee”).
Upperievel Protocolmanagemendlsoexchange@mailsusingtheir Stateemailaddressesld.
11 163; 171-72Thetwo companiesharemorepersonal connectionaswell: State’sCEO, Mr.
Haag,is thedomestigpartner of Protocol €EO andCo-Owner,Ms. Hanson.Id. I 142. The
overlapamongemployeeslsoincludes other, nomanageriaktaff. Seeid. 11153-55
(discussing thenovemenbf employeedrom Stateto Protocolandthe sharing oémployees
acrosshetwo entities) id. 1 156 (May 14, 2013emailchaindiscussing sharing @&mployees
andwhatProtocol*had donein the pastfor othersfor Hubzone purposes”).

FurthermoreProtocolandState’sfinancesandcommunicationgndicatea connection
betweertheentities. First, “since Protocolwasformed,Statehasmanagedll of Protocol’s
financial operations, including accountimgdpayroll.” 1d. § 147. SecondProtocolwasableto

rely on State’sfinancial supportasasafetynet,aswhen,for instanceMr. Haaglent Ms. Hanson

14



andMs. Dudek thecapitaltheyrequiredto form Protocolat a lowinterestrateand“was prepared
to forgive thisloanentirelyif Protocolhadbeenunsuccessful.”ld. { 148. This assistance
extendedo resourcesharing:“[a]t leastuntil May 2012, Protocol did ndtave”any utility bill
“in its own nameandhadnotestablishedts own relationshipsvith vendors,"insteadrelying on
Statefor its infrastructure.ld. 11158-159jd. T 159 (documentinBrotocolexpenseeport
consisting ofStateform onwhich namewascrossedutandreplacedwith Protocol’sname) id.
1 170 (documentingmailnotifying Ms. Hanson and/ls. Dudekthatthey would haveictures
takenfor bothentities’websiteson thesameday andecommendinghattheybring two outfits).
Third, Stateprovided Protocalith “cashinfusion[s],” asevidencedy aMarch 3, 2010.email
requestings25,000to coverthecostof payroll. Id. I 149. Finally, “Protocol hid its operating
expense®sn State’saccounts,’asindicatedin an April 27, 2009emailin which Ms. Hanson
informedMs. Dudekthat she should bookips takenonbehalfof Protocol “undefState.” Id.
151. Thesefinancialinteractionded Ms. Hansono expressoncernjn aDecemberl6, 2010,
email,thatthe WisconsirbDepartmenbf Financiallnstitutionswould notrelicenseProtocol
given“[tlhe way financialslook today.” Id. { 152.
Protocol’'sco-foundersalsodiscussediowto respondo government inquiries concerning
thetwo entities In 2013,whenMs. HansorandMs. Dudek pursuetiUBZone certification(as
asmallbusines®peratingn atraditionallydisadvantagedrea) the SBA “flagged Stateand
Protocolaspotentiallyaffiliated (andthusineligible for HUBZonecertification).” Id. I 166. In
a July 10, 201@mail chain, thewo womendiscussedowto indicateto the SBA that“thereis
no affiliation” when*“the owners of a HUBZone business hgpadw?2 positionsat adifferent
company.” Id. Protocolultimatelywithdrewits applicationfor HubZonecertification. Id.

168. Subsequentl@gtateandProtocol‘reacheda consensu® withhold” theirmanagerial
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agreemenin responséo a 2015 inquiryfrom afield auditorwith the WisconsirDepartmenof
WorkforceDevelopment.ld. { 169.

During thistime, ConServe’snteractionsvith thecompaniesndicateanawarenessf
thecloserelationshipbetweerthem. “From thetime of Protocol’s inception,ChrisLang, the
Vice Presidentor ContractAdministrationat ConServe, “provided advide Stateand
Protocol’sofficers concerning théareminimum of separatiomeededo maintainthe
appearancef independence.ld. { 175. ForinstanceMr. LangadvisedMs. Dudekin an
Octoberl9, 2009emailthatthe use oBtateemailsfor Protocol businessiadesome individuals
at ConServe “uneasy.Td. 1 176. Nonethelesghe shareduse ofemailscontinuedjd. § 177,and
Mr. LangemailedMs. Dudek(who held positionsat bothcompaniesat bothaddressesn
August 18, 2011to inquire about Protocol’segistrationasa smallbusiness on th@ SAwebsite
ccr.gov,id. § 179. Mr. Langalsocorrespondewith Ms. DudekregardingProtocol: hisMay 10,
2012,emailwith Ms. Dudek concerning ProtocolldUBZonecertificationrevealedo him
Protocol’s plango consider‘all addressesfor employeesn “the Beloit [HUBZone] from our
friendsat Stateto seeif anyonecantransferover and do someork for Protocol.” Id. { 182.
Previously, orDecember9, 2011, ConSenleadershighademailedMs. Dudekto askabout
State’snew operations programid.  180. Moreover, breakirfgom whatMr. Langrepresents
asConServe’s “policyf reviewingauditedfinancial statementéom its subcontractors . . . [to]
ensuresizeandownership,” ConServeeverinsistedon auditedfinancial statementérom
Protocol. Id. T 181.

ii. Group 2:PioneerEdgewaterandBass

PrimecontractorPioneerengagedn asubstantiallysimilar patternof conductalbeitwith

distinctdetails with subcontractoEdgewaterandallegedlyaffiliated companyBass. At an
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unspecifieddate,Pioneemwasawardedhe ED PCA taskorderandsubmitteda small business
subcontracting planld. § 237. This subcontractinglan“representedhata portion of thevork”
thatPioneer‘subcontractedvould go to smallbusinessesdndwasincorporatednto thetask
orderby referencebecoming anaterialpart of thecontract,d. 11237-38. Pioneerthen
“awardedeEdgewatemla subcontracunder theeED PCA taskorder,effectivelyreplacing’Bass*as
Pioneer’ssole subcontractor.1d.  241;seealso id.] 246 (notinghatBasshadservedasa
smallbusiness subcontractiar Pioneerprior to the ED PCAtaskorders). Subcontractor
Edgewatehasrepresentedself asasmallbusiness througits self-certifications‘[a]t all times
material’to the instantllegations.Id. I 242. Edgewater’snostrecentself-certification,which
attestdo its small businesstatuswasmadein 2014. Id.  282. It hasalso“self-certifiedto the
Governmenthat,sinceat least2009,its averageannualreceiptsover the priothreeyearshave
beenlessthantheprior $7 million [NAICS] threshold(in effectfrom 2007 througllanuary6,
2013), the prior $14nillion thresholdfrom January 7, 2013 through July 13, 2014), or the
current$15million threshold.” Id. 1 242.

Initially, beforePioneersubcontractevith EdgewaterPioneerandBassmadeovertures
to continuetheir pastcontractingwith respecto the ED contract. On January 16, 200Bassand
Pioneer‘held aKick-off Meeting” at which PattiBass,her brother, Rob Hoskinand
Aleksandra Radmanoviepresente@ass at this meeting,Pioneemwasrepresentetly
CollectionsDirectorBryanWiler aswell asnumerous othegmployees.ld. § 248. On
November 6, 2009yIr. Hoskinssentanemailconfirminga November 11-12, 2008\eeting
thatwould “focus on measuringerformanceon theED subcontracbetweerPioneerandBass.”
Id. 1 250. BetweenNovember 200@ndMarch2010, however, both PioneandBass

“acknowledgedhatBasswasno longermgoingto qualify asaneligible smallbusinesgor
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purposes of subcontracting under Bi2 PCAtaskorder.” Id. { 251. Ms. Bass’sown actions
with regardto adifferentsubcontractonfirm this conclusion: orApril 12, 2010, sheompleted
aselfcertificationindicatingthatBass*has averageannualrevenuegor the pastthreeyearsthat
exceeded7 million”—makingBassineligible asa small businessor debtcollectionservices
under theelevantNAICS code. Id. { 252. Lessthantendayslater, Pioneer’sCollection
Director, Mr. Wiler, emailedMs. Bassstatingthat, dueto Bass’sstatusasalargebusiness,
Pioneer*had not‘beenableto identify abenefitto [it]" in extending thesubcontractwith Bass.
Id. {1 253. Mr. Wiler proceededo askwhich Bassemployeesvould becomeEdgewater
employees.Id. T 254.

Edgewatemwasthenformally created.On April 23, 2010Ms. BassandBassitself
“signedaPurchasendSaleAgreementvith herbrother, Mr. HoskinsandEdgewateto sell the
‘Business Opportunitydf subcontractingvith Pioneerunder theeD PCAtaskorder’ata
purchasepriceof $1million. Id.  255. Thatsameday, Edgewatereceiveda $1million loan
from Bass. Id. Fouryearsafterthisloan,Mr. HoskinsandEdgewatehadnotrepaidit, andMs.
Bassagreedo continuedorbearancdor $50,000andthe “promise of continued paymeitsthe
future.” 1d. 1 269. Pioneemwas“fully aware”of this salebecausér. Wiler hadbeen
“coordinating theransitionfor the ED subcontract’sinceApril 15, 2010.1d. { 255. He did so
with theassistancef aBassemployeeto whomheexplainedthat“[a]ll thatwill needto change
on theletters[to besentto debtorsaspartof theED collectionefforts] is the nameof the
company.” Id. 71257-58.

BassandEdgewaterlsoshareboth aphysicallocationandemployees.First,
Edgewater'grincipalplaceof businesss locatednextdoorto Bass,in a building ownedyy Ms.

BasssinceJune 2010.1d. T 270. In the fall of 2010Ms. Basssignedbuilding permit
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applicationdor constructiorat this sameaddresslisting office spacefor Bassasthestateduse
of the property.ld.

Second, ky personneat Basswere“substantial[ly]involve[d]” with Edgewaterwith
Pioneer'sknowledge.Id. 1 260. Ms. Radmonovicwho hadparticipatedn the original Pioneer-
Basskick-off meeting,helda seniomanagerialole at Edgewatef'sinceatleast2010” and, until
2014, she simultaneoustervedasStrategicPlanningandClient ServicesExecutiveat Bass. Id.
1 261. At industrytradeshowsandon her LinkedIn profile, sheindicatesoverlapping
employment.See id(noting Bassaffiliation at industrytradeshowsandED PCA meetingsn
2012and2013);id. 1 262(reproducind-inkedIn profile thatdescribesolesat Edgewatefrom
2010to 2015androlesat Bassfrom 2003to 2015). In additionto Ms. RadmonovicMr.
Hoskinswasaffiliated with bothcompaniesndrepeatedlyiscusseddgewatebusiness on his
Bassemailaccount.ld. 1263-67.1n onesuchemailonMay 22, 2014 Mr. Hoskinsindicated
to aPioneeremployedahatheandMs. Basshadengagedn conversations abotibaning”
collectorsfrom Bassto Edgewater.Id. { 266. In other communicationsith Mr. Wiler of
PioneerMr. HoskinsforwardedED’s feedbackon Bass’sJuly 2015 quality control plamnd
Mr. Wiler respondedby statingthat Pioneemandledts oversightwith Edgewateby ensuring
“compliancein thesameexactfashionasif thework wasbeingdoneby one of ouownteams.”
Id. { 267. Pioneemot only supporte&dgewatein its words, butalsomorematerially:“[o]ther
thantherevenueseceivedirom Pioneerunder theaskorder,Edgewatedoesnotgenerate

much,if any,revenue.”ld. T 274.
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iii. Group 3:WAM, Uniquity,andPRC

PrimecontractoWWAM'’s involvementwith subcontractor Uniquitgndallegedly
affiliated companyPRCrepresentsinotheiiterationof this basicscheme As a condition of
receivingthecontractthatled to theawardof ED PCA taskorder, WAM submittedasmall
business subcontractipdanthatbecameamaterialpart of its contractwith the governmentld.
11195- 97.WAM thenawardedJniquity a subcontract unddére ED PCAtaskorder. Id.
199. Uniquity’s mostecentannualself-certificationaffirming its small businesstatuswas
madein 2013. Id. 1 230.

There are several connections between Uniquity and PRaniquity wascreatedn

2011by the shareholders &fRC*“to assistendersin thecollectionof student debt.”ld. I 204.

% Relator’s factual allegations at times refer to WAM as the prime contfacttiris
group of Defendantsee, e.g.Am. Compl. § 10 (discussing “prime contractor[s] . . . Global
Receivables Solutions, Inc. f/k/a West Asset Management, Inc.”), aimaeatriefer to “Prime
Contractor Defendant West Corporatiosge, e.g.id. 1 1%. Relator’'s opposition states that the
“Amended Complaint exclusively references West Corporation in the factugatadies for the
sake of convenience.” Opp’n to Defs. Alorica/GRSI’s, Uniquity’s, and PRC’s Mot.iBsstd
n.11, ECF No. 97. As noted previously, West Corporation was the parent company of WAM
until 2015, when Alorica acquired West and WAM was rebranded as GRSI. Adding to this
confusion, in their reply brief, Defendants collectively refer to Alorica aR&I&s the “WAM
Defendants.” Aldaca/GRSI Reply Supporting Mot. Dismiss (“Alorica/GRSI Reply”) 1, ECF
No. 104. Based on the relationship among the entities articulated in the amended complaint, the
Court construes WAM as the operative prime contractor during the time ofdbatans. For
expositional clarity, the Court uses the term “WAM” only in discussing ttieidh allegations
against the prime contractor associated with this group of Defendants. Théu@bert
discusses these issues in addressing the parties’ joint moti@ntiss Defendant WesEee
infra Part IV.A.

10 Relator’s factual allegations concerning Uniquity also include a numbtatefrents
that Uniquity fraudulently mispresented its wor@mned small business (“WOSB”) statuUSee
Am. Compl. 1 208-212. Even granting Relator’'s complaint the generous read it is due at this
stage of litigation, the Court cannot discern a connection between WOSBastdtie alleged
false claims—based on misrepresentations concerbungjness sizethat Relator contests in i
suit. See idfY 229-36 (discussing how Uniquity, PRC, and West “[s]Jubmitted or [c]aused the
[s]Jubmission of [flalse [c]laims to the United States Government” through its
“misrepresentations concerning Uniquity’s small business status”). ThuSotiteomits this
set of factual allegations.
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ThesePRCshareholdertmaintaina 48% equitynterest”in Uniquity. 1d. PRChasprovided
supportto Uniquity by “fund[ing] significantorganizationahndstartup costs”andproviding
employeedgo “carr[y] out . . . [Uniquity’s]accountingandotheradministrativefunctions.” Id.
Dueto PRCs financialinvestmentsn PRC PRCs accountantfiave concludethat Uniquity “is
avariableinterestentity” of PRC a designatiothatrequiresUniquity’s activities“to be
consolidatedn theanalysisof PRCs financialstatements.”ld. § 205. Moreover htetwo
companiesavereportedthesameoperatingoffice addressn Durham,North Carolina,and
Uniquity additionallylists theresidenceof PRCs CEOasa business addreskl. I 206.
Uniquity’s emailcorrespondencandbusinessnteractionswvith WAM involvedPRCon
severalbccasions.OnJune 21, 2011, UniquityresidentlamieCameronntroduced his
“business partner,” PRC President and Uniquity Men@esoff Miller, to individualsat WAM,
id. § 215. On July 19, 2011WAM requesteddditionalfinancialinformation about Uniquity.
Id. § 216. In responselMr. CamerorsuggestedhatWAM “could simply rely onthefinancial
informationof thebetterestablishedPRC” Id. A yearandahalf later,whenWAM incurred
skip tracing expensesor which Uniquity wasresponsiblePRCremittedthe fundsto WAM. 1d.
1 219. AdditionallywhenPRCs comptrolleremailedaWAM employedo requesta copy of
our 1099,"WAM'’s employeebegan helping®RCto locateUniquity’s 1099. Id. §1220-21
(emphasisemoved)'! suggesting a workinfamiliarity with bothentities’ business operations.

Seeid.  220.

111n addition to these factual allegations concerning the relationship betRé&zarkl
Uniquity and WAM'’s knowledge of this relationship, Relators contend that Uniquity and WAM
are affiliated through economic dependence. Am. Compl. 1 223-28. As Uniquity argsies in i
reply brief, Relator’s opposition “did not oppose, and therefore concedes, Uniquofyraent
that it could not have been affiliated wiiWAM] by ‘economic dependengeDef. Uniquity’s
Reply Sypporting Mot. Dismiss 4, ECF No. 108ee alsdAlorica/GRSI Reply 3 (The
Opposition abandons half of the alleged grounds for finding affiliatiane-the entire basis for
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B. Procedural History

Relatorinitially filed this lawsuiton May 20, 2015.SeeCompl. The Government
declinedto interveneon Octoberl, 2018. SeeU.S.’sNotice of Electionto Decline Intervention,
ECFNo. 31.Theoriginal complainivasthenunsealedseeOct. 9, 20180rder,ECFNo. 32,and
summonsswereissuedfor Defendant8ass,ConServeEdgewaterPioneer, Protocol, Uniquity,
andWeston February2, 2019,seeECFNo. 36. Relatorfiled anamendedomplaint orMarch
28, 2019, lodginglaimsagainsthesamesevenDefendantandadding Defendantalorica,
StateandPRC Am Compl. Theamendeadomplaintstatedthat Relator“voluntarily provided
the Governmenwith theinformationuponwhich theallegations’in it “are basedprior to the
filing of theOriginal Complaintin accordancevith 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(2)jd. 1 28, thequi
tamprovision of the~alseClaimsAct.

Thisamendeatomplaint includes four counts. Courgtllegesthat“Defendants
knowingly submitted,or causedo besubmitted falseclaimsfor paymento the United Statesjn
violation of 31 U.S.C. 8729(a)(1)(A).” Id. 1 326. Countl allegesthatDefendantsknowingly
usedfalserecordsor statements$o getfalseor fraudulentlaimspaid or approvedy theUnited
Statesjn violation of theFCA, 31 U.S.C. 8729(a)(1)(B).1d. § 331. Countll allegesthat
“Defendantknowingly conspiredandmaystill be conspiringwith the variousentitiesand/or
personsallegedherein(aswell asother unnamedo-conspiratorsjo commitactsin violation of

31 U.S.C. 8§ 3729(a)(1) &(2);31 U.S.C. §8729(a)(1)(A)& (a)(1)(b)” Id. 1 334. Finally,

asserting a UniquityAM affiliation—by completely failing to address the lack of an
“economic dependence” (thus conceding this argumebider this Circuit’s clear precedent,

“if a party files an opposition to a motion and therein addresses only some of the movant’s
arguments, the court may treat the unaddressed arguments as cénéeaead.v. U.S798 F.3d
1108, 1110 (D.C. Cir. 2015%ce alsdDe La Fuente v. DNC Servs. Carplo. 18ev- 336 (RC),
2019 WL 1778948, at *4 (D.D.C. Apr. 23, 201Because the Court treats these arguments as
conceded, it does not relate the underlying factual allegations.

22



CountlV allegesthat“Defendantsknowingly avoidedor decreasetheir obligationto pay or
transmitmoneyto the government,therebyviolating 31 U.S.C. 8729(a)(1)(G).Id. T 337.
Summonsswereissuedfor the Defendanteeferencedn theamendedcomplaint orApril 1,
2019. SeeECFNo. 57.

Thepartiesthenfiled multiple motions. RelatorandDefendant®lorica andGRSI
jointly movedto dismisstheclaimsagainstDefendanwWest asking the Couttb granta
dismissalagreementvhereinAlorica/GRSlagreedo assumenyliabilities arisingasto
DefendantWestdueto theallegedconduct oMWWAM. SeeECFNo. 77. Eachof theDefendants
alsomovedto dismissRelator'samended complaintSeeDef. PRCs Mot. Dismiss(“PRC
Mot.”), ECFNo. 79, Def. Protocol’s Mot.Dismiss(“Protocol Mot.”), ECFNo. 81, Def. Bass’s
Mot. Dismiss(“BassMot.”), ECFNo. 85, Def. Alorica/GRSI'sMot. Dismiss(“Alorica/GRSI
Mot.”), ECFNo. 86, Def. Edgewater'sViot. Dismiss(“EdgewaterMot.”), ECFNo. 87, Def.
Pioneer'sMot. Dismiss,ECFNo. 88, Def. ConServe’s MotDismiss(“*ConServe Mot.”) ECF
No. 92,andDef. State’sMot Dismiss(“State’sMot.”), ECFNo. 93. In addition,Defendant
ConServe movetbr judicial notice,ECFNo. 92, followedby Relator’'sown motionfor judicial
notice,ECFNo. 98. Thesemotions havéeenbriefedandareripe for the Court’sconsideration.

Ill. LEGAL STANDARD
A. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure12(b)(6)

TheFederaRulesof Civil Procedure requirhata complaintontain“a shortandplain
statemenbf theclaim” in orderto give thedefendantair noticeof theclaim andthe grounds
uponwhichit rests. Fed.R. Civ. P.8(a)(2);accordEricksonv. Pardus 551U.S.89, 93 (2007)
(percuriam). A motionto dismissunder Rule 12(b)(6)eststhelegalsufficiencyof a

complaint”underthat standardandaskswhetherthe plaintiff hasproperlystatedaclaim.

23



Browningv. Clinton, 292 F.3d 235, 24¢.C. Cir. 2002). A court consideringuchamotion
takesthe complaint’sfactualallegationgo betrue andconstrueshemliberally in theplaintiff's
favor. Seege.g, United Statesy. Philip Morris, Inc., 116F. Supp. 2d 131, 138.D.C. 2000).

Nevertheless|[t]Jo survive amotionto dismiss,a complaint mustontainsufficient
factualmatter,acceptedstrue,to ‘stateaclaimto relief thatis plausible ornits face.” Ashcroft
v. Igbal, 556U.S.662, 678 (2009) (quotingell Atl. Corp.v. Twombly550U.S.544, 570
(2007)). Thismeanghataplaintiff's factualallegations’'must be enougho raisearight to relief
above the speculatitevel, on the assumptictimatall theallegationdn the complainaretrue
(evenif doubtfulin fact).” Twombly 550U.S. at 555-56(citationsomitted). “Threadbare
recitalsof theelementof acauseof action, supportedy mereconclusorystatements,arethus
insufficientto withstandamotionto dismiss. Igbal, 556U.S.at678 A courtneednotaccepta
plaintiff's legal conclusionsastrue,seeid., nor must a court presurtiee veracityof legal
conclusionghatarecouchedasfactualallegations.SeeTwombly 550U.S. at 555.

B. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure9(b) and the FCA

For FCA fraudactions,a heightened pleading standard appli®@se United States ex rel.
Tottenv. Bombardier Corp(Tottenl), 286 F.3d 542, 55(.C. Cir. 2002)(“[B] ecausehe False
ClaimsAct is seltevidentlyanantifraud statute complaintsbrought undeit must complywith
Rule9(b).”). In such a suit, it is not enough to comply with Rule 12(b)(6); rafaA,
“plaintiffs must plead their claims with plausibility and particularity under Fdules of Civil
Procedure 8 ané(b) by, forinstance, pleading facts to support allegationmatieriality”
Universal Health Servs., Inc. v. United Statigsiversal Health Servicgs136 S. Ct. 1989, 2004
n.6 (2016) see alsd-ed.R. Civ. P. 9(b) (requiring aparty“alleging fraud or mistake”to “state

with particularitythecircumstancesonstitutingfraud or mistaké). That said, “[m]alice, intent,
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knowledge, and other conditions of a person’s mind may be alleged geneFat/R. Civ. P.
9(b). Thus, “{ijnanFCA fraudaction,Rule 9(b)requiresat aminimum,thatthepleaderstate
thetime, placeandcontent of théalsemisrepresentationshefact misrepresentedndwhatwas
retainedor givenupasa consequence of tfi@ud’ and‘individuals allegedlyinvolvedin the
fraud.” Penchendsiv. LaogaiResearchioundation(Sill), 71F. Supp.3d 73, 85(D.D.C.
2014) (quotingWilliamsv. Martin-Baker Aircraft Co., Ltd389 F.3d 1251, 1256 (D.C. Cir.
2004); seealsoUnited Statesexrel. Landisv. Tailwind Sports Corp(Landig, 51F. Supp. 3d 9,
49 (D.D.C. 2014),0n reconsideratiomn part, 160F. Supp. 3d 258D.D.C. 2016),andclarified
on denial of reconsideratioMNo. 1:10-CV-00976(CRC),2016WL 3197550(D.D.C. June 8,
2016) (discussing pleading standardiquotingWilliams 389 F.3cdat 1256); Tottenl, 286 F.3d
at551 (quoting 8CharlesAlan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, FederalPracticeandProcedure 8
1297(2d ed.1990). Putslightly differently, “the plaintiff must provide the ‘who,what,’
‘when,” and‘where’ with respecto thecircumstancesf the fraud.” United Statess. Comstor
Corp.(Comsto), 308 F. Supp. 3d 56, 68 (D.D.C. 2018) (quotifgted States ex reHeathv.
AT & T,Inc. (Heath, 791 F.3d 112, 12fD.C. Cir. 2015)). Thisrequirement oparticularity
‘serve[slto discourage[] thénitiation of suitsbroughtsolelyfor their nuisancevalue,. . .
safeguardpotential defendantsom frivolous accusation®f moral turpitude;” Heath 791 F.3d
at 123(internal quotation marks omittefuotingWilliams, 389 F.3dat 1256),and“ensure[s]
thatdefendanthaveadequatenotice of thechargesagainsthemto prepare aefense,’Sill, 71
F. Supp. 3cat 85 (quotingUnited Stateex.rel. McCreadyv. Columbia/HCA Healthcare Corp.

251F. Supp. 2d 114, 11(.D.C. 2003)).
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C. Claims Brought under the FCA

TheFCA'’s qui tamprovision, 31 U.S.C. 8§ 3730(1d), permitsprivatepartiestermed
“relators,”to sue orbehalfof the governmerit orderto redresdalseor fraudulentlaimsmade
to the governmentSeeWilliams 389 F.3dat 1254. However,in such aqui tamsuit, conditions
applyin theform of theFCA'’s public disclosurdar. “seekingto preventsuits‘by those other
thananoriginal sourcavhenthe governmendlreadyhasenough informatiomo investigatethe
caseé or where'the informationcouldat leasthavealertedlaw-enforcemenauthoritiesto the
likelihood of wrongdoing,’ thé&CA’s public disclosurdarblocksqui tamsuitsthatare‘based
upon the public disclosure aflegationsor transactions.’United States ex reDoev. Staples,
Inc. (Staple$, 773 F.3d 83, 8@D.C. Cir. 2014)(internalquotationmarksomitted)(first quoting
United Statesxrel. Davisv. District of Columbia679 F.3d 832, 83(D.C. Cir. 2012),then
quoting 31 U.S.C. 8730(e)(4)(A)(1986));seealso31 U.S.C. 8730(e)(4)(A).

This Circuit setforth therelevantanalysisto determinewvhethertherehasbeena public
disclosuren United Statesexrel. Springfield Terminal Railway. Quinn(Springfield Terming|
14 F.3d 645D.C. Cir. 1994). Springfield Terminaprovides gormulato solve the public
disclosure question: “if X + Y Z, Z representsheallegationof fraudandX andY represenits
essentiaklements.In orderto disclose the fraudulemtansactionpublicly, the combination of X
andY must berevealedfrom which readersor listenersmayinfer Z, i.e., the conclusiothat
fraudhasbeencommitted’ Id. at 654 g€mphasisn original). Thus;a quitamactioncannot be
sustainedvherebothelementof the fraudulentransactior—X andY—arealreadypublic,even
if therelator‘comesforwardwith additional evidencecriminatingthe defendant.”Staples

773 F.3dat 86 (quotingSpringfieldTerminal 14 F.3dat 655.

26



An exceptionto the public disclosure bappliesif therelatoris an“original source”of
the information.“Original source”is definedby thestatuteasapersorwho either(1) “has
voluntarily disclosedo the Government th@formationonwhich allegationsor transactionsn a
claimarebased’ prior to a “public disclosureasdefinedby thestatute or (2) “hasknowledge
thatis independent acindmateriallyaddsto the publiclydisclosedallegationsor transactions,
andwho hasvoluntarily provided thénformationto the Government befofding anaction”
under the=CA’s qui tamprovision. 31 U.S.C. §730(e)(4)(B).

In this case Relatorclaimsoriginal sourcestatusandbrings fourFCA claims*? The
Courtwill nextoutlinethe operativdegal standardor eachof Relator’'sclaimsin the instant suit
beforeturningto its analysisof Defendantsmotionsto dismiss.

1. PresentmerdndFalseStatemenictions

TheFCA, asamendedgreate<ivil liability for “anypersorwho. . . knowinglypresents,
or causeso bepresentedafalseor fraudulentlaim for payment oapproval’ 31 U.S.C. §
3729(a)(1)(A) or “knowingly makesuses,or causedo bemadeor used, dalserecordor
statemeninaterialto afalseor fraudulentlaim,” id. 8 3729(a)(1)(B).Thesetwo clausesare
knownasthe “presentmentlause’andthe “false statementlause, respectively. FERA’s 2009
amendmergbroadernthereachof bothclauses.First, thechangedo the presentmentlause
“removedlanguageaequiringthattheclaim bepresentedo anofficer or employeeof the

government oarmedforces” Comstor 308F. Supp. 3dat 78(citing FERA §4(a). Second,

12 Technically speaking, Relator’'s amended complaint can be read as bringing eigh
claims. On May 20, 2009, Congress amended the FCA by enacting the Fraud Enforcement and
Recovery Act of 2009 (“FERA”), Pub. L. No. 111-21, 123 stat. 1@R&lator suggests that the
claims may implicate both the prand post-amendment versions of the stat8eeAm. Compl.

84 n.8 (“To the extent wrongdoing occurred prior to May 20, 2009, this Amended Complaint
should be deemed to include violations of the Federal False Claims Act prior t®its re
amendments, e.g., 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) (2006¢. gt 85-86 nn.912 (same) The Court

thus discusses both versions of the statute, highlighting relevant differenpedicabée.
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theamendedalsestatementlause‘replacedhelanguageof ‘falserecordor statemento geta
falseor fraudulentlaim paid or approvedy the governmentvith ‘statemeninaterialto afalse
or fraudulentlaim.” Id. (quotingFERA 8§ 4(a)). Theamendegresentmentlauseappliesto
conductoccurringon orafterMay 20, 2009.FERA § 4(f). Theamendedalsestatementlause
appliesretroactivelyto “all claimsunder the~alseClaimsAct . . .thatarepending oror after”
June 8, 2008Id. at § 4(f)(2).
Thepresentmenandfalsestatementlausesare“complementary,’havingbeen
“designedo preventthosewho makefalserecordsor statements$o getclaimspaid or approved
from escapindiability solelyon the groundhatthey did nothemselvepresent @laimfor
payment or approval.United Statesexrel. Tottenv. Bombardier Corp(Tottenll), 380 F.3d
488, 501(D.C. Cir. 2004)(emphasisn original). Theelementsf theseclaimsarethat: “(1) the
defendansubmittedor causedo besubmittedaclaimto the government, (2) trdaimwas
false,and(3) the defendant knew tldaim wasfalse.” United Statesexrel. Tranv. Computer
Scis.Corp.(Tran), 53F. Supp. 3d 104, 121-ZP.D.C. 2014)(citationandalterationomitted).
A falseclaim cantakeseveraforms.“In thecaseof the paradigmatic . .factuallyfalse
claim, a claimant‘submitsinformationthatis untrue onts face’” United Statesexrel. Morsell
v. Symantec CorgMorsell), 130F. Supp. 3d 106, 118-1®.D.C. 2015) (quotingKellogg
Brown & RootServs, 800F. Supp. 2d 143, 15¢D.D.C. 2011));seealsoUnited Statesy.
ScienceéApplicationsint’l Corp.(SAIQ, 626 F.3d 1257, 126@.C. Cir. 2010). This Circuit also
acceptdwo additionaltheoriesof legal “falsity” thatarerelevantin this casefraudulent
inducementaindimplied certification SeeUnited Statesexrel. Bettisv. OdebrechiContractors
of Cal.,Inc., 393 F.3d 1321, 1326—2D.C. Cir. 2005)(addressing “fraudn-inducement theory

of liability under the FCA");SAIC 626 F.3dcat 1266 (discussing Circuit’'s endorsement of
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implied certification theoras basis for FCA claimssee also Tran53 F. Supp. 3d at 117
(discussingpotential basefor liability under theFCA); U.S. ex rel. Head v. Kane CG98 F.
Supp. 2d 186, 195-96 (D.D.C. 201@pting that FCA claims take several forms, including
fraudulent inducement and implied false certificatiamd citingBettis 393 F.3d at 1326BAIC
626 F.3d at 1266)Thefraudulent inducement theory imposiebility “for eachclaim submitted
to the Government undercantractwhichwasprocuredby fraud,evenin theabsencef
evidencehattheclaimswerefraudulentin themselves. Tran, 53F. Supp. 3d 104, 117 (quoting
Bettis 393 F.3dat 1326(citing S. Rep.No. 99-345at 9 (1986) reprintedin 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N.
5266, 5274)).

Alternatively,undertheimplied certificationtheory ofliability, “the falsity of aclaim for
paymentrestson afalserepresentationf compliarcewith anapplicablefederalstatute federal
regulation, orcontractuaterm.” Comstor 308 F.Supp. 3dt 79 (quotingUnited Statesexrel.
McBridev. Halliburton Co.(McBride), 848 F.3d 1027, 103(D.C. Cir. 2017));seealso SAIC
626 F.3dat 1266. “[U] nder themplied certificationtheory, gpartycanincurliability for
makingclaimsunder acontractwhile ‘withh[olding] informationaboutits noncompliancevith
materialcontractuarequirements. Morsell, 130F. Supp. 3cat 119 (quotingSAIC 626F. 3dat
1269. However,“in orderto establisHiability[,] the plaintiff must provehat‘compliancewith
thelegalrequirementn questions materialto the government’slecisionto pay.” McBride,
848 F.3dat 1031(emphasis in originalquotingSAIC 626 F.3dat 1271). This Circuit has
“committedto ‘enforcingthis [materiality] requirement rigorouslyto ‘ensurethatgovernment
contractorswill notfaceonerousandunforeseer-CA liability astheresultof noncompliance
with anyof potentiallyhundreds ofegal requirementgstablishedby contract” Id. (quoting

SAIC 626 F.3cat 1271). The Supreme Coulttas furthermoreunderscored theeedfor courts
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to berigorousin their examinatiornof implied certificationtheoriesandengagen “strict
enforcemenbf theAct’'s materialityrequirements.”UniversalHealth Services136S. Ct. at
2002(quotingSAIC 626 F.3dat 1270). Thesame'strict enforcement’appliesto theFCA'’s
scienter,or knowledgerequirementsld. “Therequisiteknowledgehastwo dimensionsThe
plaintiff must showthatthedefendantknows (1) thatit violateda contractuabbligation,and(2)
thatits compliancewith thatobligationwasmaterialto the government’s decisida pay.”
Morsell, 130F. Supp. 3cat 119-20 (quotinAlIC 626 F.3dat 1271)(citing Heath 791 F.3dat
125).
2. “Reversé FalseClaim Actions

Relatoralsobringsclaimspursuanto theso-called“reversé falseclaimsclauseof the
FCA, which addresse$anyfraudulent condudhat‘resultsin no paymento the government
whena paymenis obligated.” Sill, 71F. Supp. 3cat 88 (citationomitted). This clauseapplies
to anypersorwho “knowingly concealsor knowinglyandimproperly avoids odecreasean
obligationto pay ortransmitmoney omropertyto the Government.” 3W.S.C.83729(a)(1)(G)
Thepre-FERA versionof this clauseimposeccivil liability onanypersornwho “knowingly
makesusesor cause$o bemadeor used, dalserecordor statemento conceal avoid, or
decreasan obligationto payor transmitmoney or propertjo the Government.” 31 U.S.C. 8
3729(a)(7) (2006).Theamendedrersion ofthis clauses broadethanthepre-FERA version of
thestatutein two importantways. First, FERA “expanded théype of conduct underlying a
reversefalseclaim actionto includepresentmeng.e., making aclaim-relatedsubmissionps
well asamaterialfalsestatementtherebymirroring sections 3729(a)(1)(And3729(a)(1)(B).
Sill, 71F. Supp. 3cat88-89(citing S.Rep.No. 111-10at 13-15 (2009. “Secondjt

broadenedherelevantpaymentobligation.’ . . .Whereaghe preFERA versionof theFCA did
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not containanydefinition of obligation” id., FERA definesobligationas”anestablishediuty,
whetheror notfixed, arisingfrom anexpressor implied contractualgrantorgranteepr licensor-
licenseerelationshipfrom afee-basedor similar relationshipfrom statuteor regulation, ofrom
theretentionof anyoverpayment,” 31 U.S.C. 8 3729(b)(3).
3. Conspiracy Actions

Additionally, theFCA providesfor civil liability for anypersorwho “conspirego
commitaviolation of” any of the above-described provisions. 31 U.88729(a)(1)(C).The
elementof this causeof actionare:“(1) that‘an agreemengxistedto havefalseor fraudulent
claimsallowedor paid’'to the governmen(2) thateachallegedmemberof the conspiracy
‘joined thatagreement,and(3) that‘one or more conspirators knowinglgommittedone or
moreovertactsin furtheranceof the objectof the conspiracy.”” Sill, 71F. Supp. 3cat 89
(quotingUnited Statesexrel. Miller v. Bill HarbertInt’l Constr.,Inc., 608 F.3d 871, 89@.C.
Cir. 2010)). “Generalcivil conspiracy principles apptp FCA conspiracyclaims.” Kang 798
F. Supp. 2cat 201 (quotindJnited Stategxrel. Westrickv. SecondChance BodyArmor, Inc.
(Westrich, 685F. Supp. 2d 129, 14®.D.C.2010). Thus,for instancetheremust bé‘'some
underlying tortiousact” for thereto be a conspiracyHalberstamv. Welch 705 F.2d 472, 479
(D.C.Cir. 1983). In the FCA context,then,“therecanbe noliability for conspiracywherethere
is no underlyingviolation of theFCA.” Sill, 71F. Supp. 3cat 89 (citing United Statesexrel.
Aminv. George Washingtodniv. (Amin), 26 F. Supp. 2d 162, 168.D.C. 1998)).

IV. ANALYSIS

Beforeturningto Defendant’smotionsto dismiss,the Courtwill addresswo threshold

issues: first, the parties’joint motionto dismissDefendanWestCorporation, and second,

Defendant Alorica’s and Defendant GRSI's argumentgcerning parent company liability.

31



A. Joint Motion to DismissDefendantWest Corporation

As mentioned previously, theartieshavejointly movedto dismisswith prejudice
Relator’'sclaimsagainstDefendanWestCorporation, thgparentcompanyto prime contractor
WestAssetManagemenat thetime of the originataskorder. SeeJointMot. DismissClaims
AgainstWestCorp (“Joint Mot.”), ECF No. 77.Thepartiesstatethat, pursuanto the 2015
AssetContributionand Equity Purchaségreemen{(“PurchaseAgreement”)enterednto by
Alorica andWest,Alorica “assumedll liabilities of Westrelatedto WAM, includingany
damagespenaltiespr otherrelief, by way of judgment oisettlementthatmight arisewith
respecto Relator’'sclaimsagainstWest” in this lawsuit;” “purchasedandacquiredall equityand
interestan WAM from Westandlaterrenamedt GRSI;” and“agreedo alsoassumeny
liabilities, includinganydamagespenaltiesor othermelief, by way of judgment oisettlement,
thatmight ariseasto Westbasedon theallegationssetforth in the First AmendedComplaint.”
DismissalAgreementl-2,ECFNo. 77-1. The partiesexecutedheir dismissalagreemenbn
May 14, 2019.1d. at5. Theagreemenprovidedthatthepartieswould conferwith theU.S.
governmentvithin tendaysof executionandthe partiesstatethatRelatorhas in fact conferred
with government counsélwho hasrepresentethattheUnited Statesdoes not opposguch
dismissal.” JointMot. 1. This uncontested submissi@stablishes that the United States, on
behalf of which Relators bring the instant suit, has consented to this dismissal. h&htigyit
grants the motion to dismiss the claims against Defendant West with prejudice p&itt tes
Relator and without prejudice with respect to the U.S. government.

B. Defendant Alorica/GRSI Parent Company Liability
Defendant Alorica/GRSI raisesfurther argument related to thigrporate restructuring,

contending that Relator has not provided any basis to assert liability ag#&is\¥arent
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company (formerly West and now Alorica). Alorica/GRSI Mem. P. &. A. Supporting Mot
Dismiss (“Alorica/GRSI Mem.”¥2, ECF No. 86.More specifically, Alorica/GRBargues that
Relator has provided no factual allegations that suggest either (1) thateheqmempany was
directly involved with the subsidiary company or (2) that the parent company wakeretjo”
of the subsidiary companyd. at 42-43 (quotingJnited States ex reHockett v. Columbia/HCA
Healthcare Corp(Hocket), 498 F. Supp. 2d 25, 59-60 (D.D.C. 2007)Relata’s opposition
does not provide factual allegations to rebut this argument. Instead, PCA yrdasgetts that
“the practice of corts in this Circuiis to order discovery to illuminate alter ego disputes before
deciding dispositive motions which assert lack of jurisdiction over the allegecaitér
Relator’s Brief in Opp’n to Alorica/GRSI’s, Uniquity’s, and PRC’s Motions ieriss (“Opp’n
to Alorica/GRSI, Uniquity, and PRC”) 33, ECF No. @rting Richard v. Bell Atl. Corp.946 F.
Supp. 54, 64 (D.D.C. 1996)nited Mine Workers of Am. Int’| Union v. Arch Mineral Cqrp.
145 F.R.D. 3, 6-7 (D.D.C. 1992)abadie Coal Co. \Black 672 F.2d 92, 98 (D.C. Cir. 1982)).
For the following reasons, Defendants have the better argument.

The problem for Relator is the failure to present any facts at all that sughesttee
parent company'’s direct role tirat the parent companyshinated the actions of the subsidiary

company.A court can “pierce the [corporate¢il” and hold a parent company liable for the

131n addition, Alorica/GRSI suggests that the complaint’s use of the name “Wes
Corporation,” abbreviated to “West,” to refer to the prime contractor in this chegtexsents a
“fail ure to clearly identify the entities it is alleging to have committed the fraud.ficAIGRSI
Mem. 42 & n.16. On Relator’s account, there is no such descriptive failure; rather, “the
Amended Complaint exclusively references West Corporation in theafadtegations for the
sake of convenience.” Opp’n to Alorica/GRSI, Uniquity, and PRC 34 n.11. Although the Court
agrees with Defendants that the initial references to “West” as the prime cordrad&ss
precise than ideal, when the amended compigiparsed in context, Relator has the better
argument. On the Court’s read of the pleadings, construing all ambiguities in faker of t
pleader, it is apparent that Relator intends to reference WAM as the primetwrdaral uses
“West” as shorthand.
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actions of a subsidiary only where the parent ‘so dominated the subsidiary ¢orpasai
negate its separate personalityHockett 498 F. Supp. 2dt 60 (qQuotingAGS Int'l Servs. S.A. v.
Newmont USA Ltd346 F. Supp. 2d 64, 89 (D.D.C. 2004) (internal punctuation and quotation
omitted));cf. Miller, 608 F.3dat 897 (“Under the alter ego theory, the court may ignore the
existence of the corporate form whenever an individual so dominates an organizaticeaity
to negate its separate personality.” (quotioginding Church of Scientology of Wash., D. C.,
Inc.v. Webster802 F.2d 1448, 1452 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (internal quotation marks omittemh)p.
Circuit has set out “several factors” that are “helpful in deciding when to piercerfierate
veil,” grouping them “under a two-prong test: (1) is there such unity of int@nelsbwnership
that the separate personalities of the corporation and the individual no longer exig?);i&

the acts are treated as those of the corporation alone, will an inequitableotEsu®’f Labadie
Coal, 672 F.2cht 96 (footnote omitted).

Under the first prong, a court considers “the degree to which formalities have bee
followed to maintain a separate corporate identitgl.” “To justify piercing the corporate veil
between a parent and a subsidiary, the parent’s control of the subsidiary musveearat
substantial, but it need not be exclusive in a hypertechnical doeday sense.”IMark Mktg.
Servs., LLC v. Geoplast S.p.A53 F. Supp. 2d 141, 150-51 (D.D.C. 2010) (qudtiiagerial
Supply Int’'l, Inc. v. Sunmatch Indus. C62 F. Supp. 2d 13, 20 (D.D.C. 1998¢¢ also/alley
Fin., Inc. v. United State$29 F.2d 162, 172 (D.C. Cir. 1980). Although there is rgidri
standard of what constitutes ‘active and substantial’ control,” courts in tlositGire “to
consider the following factors: (1) the nature of the corporate ownership and c)tfallure
to maintain corporate minutes or adequate records; (3) failure to maintain theat®rpor

formalities; (4) a commingling of funds and other assets; (5) diversion of ctaponals or
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assets to other uses; and (6) use of the same office or business lodMamk. Mktg. Servs.
753 F. Supp. 2d at 150-%first quotingMaterial Supply Int’} 62 F. Supp. 2d at 20, then citing
Labadie Coal 672 F.2d at 97—99%ee alsdJnited States v. Dynamic Visions, 220 F. Supp.
3d 16, 25 (D.D.C. 2016)

Under the second prong, a court considére basic issue of fairness under the facts.”
Labadie Coal 672 F.2dat 96 (footnote omitted) This “practical” analysis is'based largely on a
reading of the particular factual circumstantesth the “ultimate determination. . dependent
upon the sound discretion of the trial judg&alley Fin, 629 F.2dat172. In conducting this
analysis, a trial courtshould consider the entire picture of the relationship between the two
corporations, including the many factors listed in the formalities pobtige test.” Shapiro,
Lifschitz & Schram, P.C. v. Haza(tlazard, 90 F. Supp. 2d 15, 26 (D.D.C. 2000) (quoting
Labadie Coal672 F.2d at 99kee also IMark Mktg. Sery§.53 F. Supp. 2d at 152
(quotingHazard,90 F. Supp. 2d at 26).

Here,Relator’'s argument fails at the first prong because PCA Intawgitgr presents any
factual allegationghat would allow the Court to conclude that the parent company (formerly
West Corporation, now Alorica) exercised “aetiand substantial” control over the subsidiary
(formerly WAM, now GRSI)** Instead, Relator appears to assert that this issue is a “factual
dispute that is ifsuited to resolution on a motion to dismiss.” Opp’n to Alorica/GRSI, Uniquity,
and PRC 33. But thivo citeddistrict courtcasesstanding alonejo not establish that it i¢he

practice of courts in this Circuitd order discovery when faced with similar fattdd. Nor

141f anything, the complaint’s factual allegations, which indicate that the two eritaig
different business addresses and managers, cut the otheBeam. Compl. §§ 32-35.

151n any event, this persuasive authority is not very persuasive mdgmited Mine
Workers the motion to dismiss was predicated “largely” on the assertion that the coed lack
personal jurisdiction over the parent company with respect to contracts enterieg int
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does the Court find support for such a routine practice i€itoeiit's decision to vacate a
decision and ordetiscovery inLabadie Coakfterconductinga detailed analysis of whether
“formalities ha[d] been followed to maintain a separate corporate ide®it®.F.2d at 96, 97—
99 (assessing formalitiesAt the end of the day, then, Relator neither offers any binding
precedent nor any further argumentation beyond the bare stateatanthis pled sufficient
facts under either a direct or derivative theory of liability under which Afedfor Alorica could
be found liable.” Opp’n to Alorica/GRSI, Uniquity, and PRC 34. This bald assertion is o mor
than a legal conclusion without factual support, however, and cannot survive the motion to
dismiss® SeeTwombly 550 U.S. at 555.
C. Presentmentand False StatementClaims

Turning nowto themeritsof Defendantsmotionsto dismiss,Defendantargue inter
alia, thatthepresentmenaindfalsestatementlaimsthatform Count landCountll,
respectivelypf theamendedomplaint,seeAm. Compl.§1324-32, do not plausiblstablisha

claim for relief with the particularitydemandedy Rule9(b)’s heightenedpleadingstandard.’

subsidiaries, such that the court needed to “decide questions of corporate structure that
implicate[d] the merits of the underlying [contract] claims.” 145 F.R.D. at @-this suitthe
merits of the underlying FCA claims are independent of the question of parent gdrapdity.

In Richard v. Bell Atlantic Corporatiqgrthe court ordered discovery based upon its appraisal of
38 exhibits submitted by the Plaintiffs, somendiich “suggest[ed] that it would not be proper . .
. to conclude that as a matter of undisputed material fact [the parent corporatiorthes not
plaintiffs’ employer” 946 F. Suppat 64 (internal quotation marks omitted). In this suit, Relator
has submitted no exhibits or any other evidence (or even allegations) in supportgofiiierar

16 Should Relator file an amended comptait may add factual allegations that specify
(1) in what ways, if any, the parent company directly participated inldged activities of the
prime contractor subsidiary and/or (2) how the parent company otherwise donfimated t
subsidiary company in a way that supports piercing the corporate veil behedarotentities.

17 Because, as discussed previously, “presentment claims under § 3729(a)(1)(A3and fal
statement claims under § 3729(a)(1)(B) follow ‘essentially the samiedleglgsis,” the Cort
considers these claims jointlyJnited States ex rel. Hutchins v. DynCorp Int’l, Ifidutching,

342 F. Supp. 3d 32, 48 (D.D.C. 2018) (quofingn, 53 F. Supp. 3d at 123).
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DefendantsalsocontendhatRelatorhasfailed to articulate with theparticularityrequired, the
materialityof anyallegedfalseclaim. Forthe forthcoming reasons, t@®urtagreeswith
Defendant®on both of these pointad grants the motions to dismiss these claims
1. Lack of Particularityin PleadingBasicFacts®

A commonthreadthroughouDefendants’ briefings the contentionhat Relatordid not
makesulfficiently specificallegationsconcerningany individual Defendant’ gpresentatiorof
falseclaimsto the government. Pgimply, the argumenis thatRelatorfailed to allegethewho,
what,where, andwhenof thefraudin themannerthatRule 9(b) demandsSeeDef. ConServe’s
Mem.P.& A. Supporting MotDismiss(“ConServeMem.”) 19, 30-33ECFNo. 91-1 @rguing
that“Relatorfails to allegethe who, what,where,andwhenof anactualfalseclaim for payment
to the government.lemphasisemoved)); Protocdilem. 1, 10-17 detailinghow “[t] he AC
fails to describethe contentgdatesandotherparticularizednformationfor critical claims”); Def.

State’sMem.P. & A. Supporting MotDismiss(“StateMem.”) 17-20,ECFNo. 93-1

Even so, the Court recognizes that one core distinction between these claims involves
what suffices to make the required showing of scienter to establish liaimtgr 31 U.S.C. §
3729(a)(1)(B). The legal standard turns on which version of the F@&ef postFERA—
applies. See Comsto308 F. Supp. 3d at 91 (FERA ‘amend[ed H#CA to clarify and correct
erroneous interpretations of the law’ decidedliison EngingCo., Inc. v. United States ex rel.
Sanders553 U.S. 662 (2008)], including by eliminatitige false statement provision’s intent
requirement.”). As th€ourt explains below, a major deficiency in the amended complaint is the
failure to state with particularity the timing of critical factual allegations that pertascto e
specific Defendant. The intervening changes in controlling statutes makenissoneven
more problematic, as Defendant Protocol rightly notes. Def. Protocol’'s Mem. P. & A
Supporting Mot. Dismiss (“Protocol Mem.”) 11, ECF No. B{“The absence of times figure
more prominently in this case due to relevant shifts in the governing law.”). ThliRelator
clarifies the relevant timeline, permitting the Court to draw firmer conclusiamseooing what
governing law to apply to the pending claims, the Court reserves judgment conserairigr.

18 n the forthcoming analysis, theo@rt at times uses one Defendant to illustrate a
particular point. However, unless otherwise indicated, such discussion of a Defgndaryt df
example does not mean that the issue is not equally applicable to all other sipoitatityned
Defendants (g., where the Court discusses Edgewater to highlight a point regarding the
subcontractor defendants, unless otherwise specified, a version of the isstikesd ddsd
applies to the other subcontractor defendants).
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(describinghow “Relatorhasfailed to pleadthe ‘who, what,where,andwhen’ specificsof its
FCA claimsandhasnot specifiedwhich Counts applyo which defendants”)Def. Pioneeis
Mot. Dismiss (“Pioneer Mot.”B1, ECF No. 8&‘[R]elator hasnotallegedfactsidentifying a
singlefalseclaim, falseinvoice, orfalseaccount; thelateonwhich anyfalseclaimwas
submittedo theU.S. government; owho submittedsuchaclaim.”); EdgewateMot. 8-9

(contestingRelator’sfailure to establisi'who, what, when,where,andhow” “as it relatesto
Edgewater”);BassMot. 6 (allegingsameack of specificityregardingBass);Alorica/GRSI
Mem. 15-22 (“Throughout th€omplaint,ratherthanpleadparticularizedacts. . .Relator
makesgeneralandconclusoryassertionsvithoutidentifying with specificityanyfalseclaimsby
aWAM Defendantanyfalserecordor statemensubmittedto the Governmerandattributable

to aWAM Defendantpr theactualoperation ofanyfraudulentscheme.”} Def. Uniquity’s
Reply to Relator's Opp’n Mot. Dismiss (“Uniquity Reply”) 1-2, ECF No. 109 (“Relbtas
utterly failed to plead any facts regarding any supposed false represemtatierby Uniquity to
the ED.”y PRC Mot. 3 (attacking lack of specific examples in support of Relator’s “generic
position”).°

Thoughstyledasthreeseparat@ppositiongo thethreegroups oDefendantsRelator’s
rebuttalcomesdownto essentiallythe samecoreargumentsFirst, clarifying thatit is pursuing
both fraudulent inducemeandfalsecertificationtheories PCA Integrity allegeshateachof the
threeprime contractors‘fraudulently inducedhe governmento entertheinitial collection

contractdy falselyclaimingthatthey wouldcomplywith their subcontracting plans.Relator’s

Brief in Opp’nto ConServe’s, Protocol’s[gndState’sMotionsto Dismiss(“Opp’n to

19 Defendants Alorica/GRSI and Pioneer, respectively, submitted their mestacaitong
with an unpaginated motion to dismiss as part of the same fiBege CF Nos. 86, 88. The
Court refers to the original page numbers of these documents.
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ConServe, ProtocodndState”) 26, ECFNo. 95; Relator’sBrief in Opp’nto Pioneer’s,
Edgewater'sandBass’sMot. Dismiss(“Opp’n to Pioneer EdgewaterandBass”)27, ECF No.
96; Opp’n toAlorica/GRSI,Uniquity,andPRC152° Relatorcontendshat, at this stageof
litigation, it does noheedto “allege theexistencef arequesfor paymentwith particularity,”
Opp’nto ConServe, ProtocahndState28 (quotingUnited Statesexrel. Folliard v. CDWTech.
Servs.]nc. (Folliard), 722F. Supp. 2d 20, 26—2(D.D.C. 2010)), orto “pleadthe contents of
anyparticularclaim for paymen,” Opp’n to PioneerEdgewaterandBass28; Opp’nto
Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity,andPRC16. With respecto DefendantConServeRelatorfurther
assertghatit hasindicatedthetiming of theallegedfraudulent inducemerty statingthat“the
PCAssubmittedproposaldy June 26, 200&ndED ultimatelycontractedvith 22 PCAs,
including ConServadn thefirst quarter of 2009.”"Opp’nto ConServe, ProtocahndState27.
Thesesamefraudulent representatiorfiRglatorappearso suggestamountto implied false
certificationeachtime thatany of the Defendantsmade,or causedo be made falsestatements
regardingthe Prime Contrat¢or defendarg’ compliancewith thesesubcontracting plans.Id. at
27-28.

In addition, with respecto Defendant®ioneeandWAM, Relatorargueghatit has
providedsufficientfactualallegationgo establishthateach*defendantfraudulently inducedhe

governmento enterinto a contract,whichis enougho surviveDefendantsRule 12(b)

20 Relator’s initial pleading makes allegation®ab“Defendants” in broad strokes and is
not a paragon of clarity regarding which claims and legal theories apply tb pdrites. Based
on the arguments made in Relator’s briefs in opposition, which specify that the ératudul
inducement theory appliés the “Prime Contractor DefendantsgeOpp’n to ConServe,
Protocol, and State 26; Opp’n to Pioneer, Edgewater, and Bass 27; Opp’n to Alorica/GRSI
Uniquity, and PRC 15, and which do not make any arguments concerning this theory of liabilit
with respecto any other categories of defendants, the Court concludes that Relator ordg inte
to put forth a fraudulent inducement argument for the prime contractor defendants (@pnSer
Pioneer, and WAM).
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motions. Opp’rto PioneerEdgewaterandBass28 (quotingUnited Statesexrel. Shemesh.
CA, Inc. (Shemesh 89F. Supp. 3d 36, 4{D.D.C. 2015)); Opp’nto Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity,
andPRC16 (same). For Defendant$?ioneeandWAM, Relatoralso asserts asinglefootnote
thatit satisfieseventhe“presentmentheoryof liability” becausdrkule9(b) does notequirethe
relator“to pleadrepresentativeamplef claimsactuallysubmittedto the government.’Opp’n
to PioneerEdgewaterandBass28 n.7 (quotindHeath 791 F.3cat 123); Opp'nto
Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity, andPRC 15 n.6(same)

SecondRelatormaintainghat thefactualallegationsgprovidedsatisfyRule 9(b)s
heightenegleadingstandardproperly construedWith respecto DefendantConServe,
Protocol,State Pioneer EdgewaterandBass,Relatorargueghatit hassetforth factsthat
establish'the circumstancesonstitutingfraud,” andthatis enough.Opp’nto ConServe,
Protocol,andState29 (emphasis in originalquotingFolliard, 722F. Supp. 2dat 27); Opp’nto
PioneerEdgewaterandBass29 (same) With respecto DefendantdVAM, Uniquity,andPRGC
Relatorargueghatit hassetforth sufficientfactsto satisfyRule9(b) becausé[neither] the
theoryof fraudulentinducemennor thetheoryof falsecertificationrequireRelatorto pleadthe
contents ofanyparticularclaim for paymentasthe focuss on Defendantsfraud surrounding
anysuchclaim, not theclaimitself.” Opp’nto Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity,andPRC 16 (quoting
United Statesexrel. Hendow. Univ. of Phoenix461 F.3d , 1166, 1174@th Cir. 2006)). In
support ofthis argumentRelatorgenerallycitesbackto—for eachgroupof Defendants- its
factualallegationan theamendedomplaint,which it contendsubstantiat¢heallegedscheme
to claim small business subcontracticgeditby falsely certifying thatthe subcontractor

defendanin eachgroupwasasmallbusiness.
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Third, Relatorarguegshatit hasin fact establishedhe “who” for its presentmenénd
falsestatementlaimsagainstachcategoryof defendanbecausét is notallegingindividual
fraud;rather,it is allegingthateachof the entitiescommitted‘fraud at the corporatéevel.”
Opp’nto ConServe, ProtocahndState28 (quotingHeath 791 F.3dat 125); Opp’nto Pioneer,
EdgewaterandBass29 (same);Opp’nto Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity,andPRC 16 (same).PCA
Integrity argueghatits factualallegationsplausiblysuggessuchcorporatelevel malfeasance.
SeeOpp’nto ConServ, ProtocohndState29 (“Relatorhassufficiently allegedthat Defendants’
claimswerefalsebecaus®efendantsought payments, including bonusesladditionaltask
orders by falselycertifying thatlegitimatesmallbusinessewere providing subcontracting
servicedo thefederalgovernment.”)Opp’nto Pioneer EdgewaterandBass29 (assertinghat
Relatorneednotidentify specificindividualsat thecompaniedo advancesucha theory); Opp’n
to Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity,andPRC 16 (same).

Relator'sargumentdill manypagesyet on the facts presentadtimately prove
unavailing on both the fraudulent inducemandimplied certificationfronts Tosustaineither
of theseclaims Rule9(b) requireshepleaderin an FCA fraudactionto, “at aminimum,. . .
statethetime, placeandcontent of thdalsemisrepresentationghefact misrepresentedndwhat
wasretainedor givenup asa consequence of the frawdid‘individuals allegedlyinvolvedin
the fraud.” Sill, 71F. Supp. 3cat 85 (quotingWilliams, 389 F.3dat 1256). Here,despite
Relator’'scontrary contention$ CA Integrity’s pleadingdoes noestablishwith therequisite
particularitythetime andplaceof thefalsemisrepresentationsyhat constitutes thallegedly
falseclaimfor eachdiscretedefendantandwhat, precisely,‘was retainedor givenupasa

consequence of tieaud.” Williams, 389 F.3cdat 1256. The Courtnextconsidersvhat,more
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specifically,is lackingunder the fraudulent inducememtdimplied falsecertificationtheories
thatRelatoradvances
a. Fraudulent Inducement Theory

TakingRelator’sfraudulent inducement theocjaim first, PCA Integrity paints a general
picture of a scheme whereirmpame contractordefendant submitted a subcontractaggeement
thatfalselyrepresentednintentionto subcontractvith smallbusinessesSee e.g, Opp’'nto
ConServe, ProtocodndState26. Again, the fraudulent inducement theory impdisedity
“for eachclaim submittedio the Government undercantractwhich wasprocuredoy fraud,
evenin theabsencef evidencehattheclaimswerefraudulentin themselves.”Tran, 53F.

Supp. 3d 104, 117 (quotirgettis 393 F.3dat 1326)(citing S. Rep.No.99-345,at9 (1986),
reprintedin 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5266, 5274).

In this case the trouble foRelatoris thefailure to connect several critical dots in the
alleged scheme, leaving the Court unclear as to what, precisely, was algenigbly false
and/or fraudulent. The first fundamental issue involves the terms of the agreethebDwi
under the operative task order. At bottdhQGA Integrity's allegations turn on a direct link
between the subcontracting plan and the fraud, based on the terms of ED’s corttrdoet wit
prime contractors. BlRealtordoes noestablish, with particularity, that any of the prime
contractors wereequiredto hire any small businesses at all in order to obtain a contract with
ED. The closest Relatoiomes is the statement that “ED ultimately contracted with 22 PCAs: 17
large (‘unrestricted’) PCAs and five small (‘setide’) PCAs.” Compl. 1 52The fact that ED
contracted with some small PCAs does little to advance PCA Integragss though. Msng
are any particularized factual allegations establishing witdtout a given prime contractor’s

alleged fraudulent misrepresentatatrthe time of contracting thatvitould hire small
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businesses, #tprime contractor could not haveceived a conta with ED. And without more
specificity, Relator'slaimsareeasily distinguisheffom acasen which, say,a setaside
contract was reserved exclusively for a small business enterprise and a corigpapsesented
its size to obtaira fraudulently-induced contract.

Instead oftirectly pleading such factual allegations with respect to each prime contracto
defendantRelatorgestures towards Defendants’ incentive structu8zseAm. Compl.| 7
(“Under the ED PCA task orders at issue in this case, PCAs were incentiviagocbntract no
less than 10% of their work to small business concerngd.’J 53-60 (describing incentives in
general terms Butif such an incentive structure forrtiee basis for the alleged fraud, a lack of
particularity again plagud3CA Integrity’s pleading. On the Court’s best read of the factual
allegations, Relataelies on the followingausal chain: given thét) “ED PCA contracts are
performancebased antlighly competitive,”id. { 52, anch contracting party can gain extra
points in the CPCS ranking system that ED uses to award bonuses and exteh§i®i3-54,

(2) the incentive of dive-point bonus awarded to “a PCA that satisfied ED’s small business
subcontracting targetjtl. 1 55,(3) ledthe prime contractoredendantd¢o misrepresent their size
in order to obtain théve-point bonus and thereby receive further awards or consideratidif,
10-11. Beyond sketching out this alleged scheme at a high level, hoiRelator never
indicates whaparticularpreferencesvere given to eacprime contractor defendant in return for
a promise to meet the subcontracting tafgeXlor, assumingor the sake of argumetttat

certain (unspecified) preferences were awatdezrtain (unspecified) Defendandeoes Relator

21 Even for Defendant ConServe, which Relator alleges “received-gaamaward
extension” as a result of its “false and/or fraudulent representations and ttbAdudcCompl. |
11, PCA Integrity does not link ConServe’s alleged initial misrepresentatibe &xtension.
Without far more detail to suggest tlizdnsServe received a fagint bonus as a result of its
initial representation to ED with respect to Protocol, and that this added comporter@RCiS
score led ED to extend its award, Relator has not satisfied its pleading burden.
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indicatethat an initial statement at the time that the subcontracting agreement was submitted was
the reasonvhythose parties received those preferend®ghout more, the Court is left in the

dark regarding hoyexactly, the prime contractors’ initial agreements withrgresent

statements that fraudulently induced the government to pay out claims.

This issue is compounded by thterlack of information about what promises, if any,
were made in the subcontracting plan that is at the core of Relator’s allege@,somenvhat
subsequent claims, if amyerepurportedly false.The complainhever says anything at all
about the subcontractinan beyond the barfact that it was submitted to EDI'his information
is lacking at even a high level, not to mention at the level of detail that Rule 9(b) deriémats
if, for instance, a prime contractor defendaitially promised a particular small business
subcontracting target of 10%, exceeded this pledge by subcontracting 20% ofatisbmstness
to qualified small businesses, and then it turned out that a subcontractor accourggfor
overall business was not in fact small—would this amount to fraud? And what is the eespons
the relevant government entities (ED and the Small Business Administration)mingeun of
cases?Relator does not say. Moreover, based on Relator’s pleading and taking as true the
allegation that themall businessubcontrating targets were approximately 10% during the
relevant time perioddm. Compl. § 55, it appears in most instances that the prime contractor
bills ED forwork performed by subcontractotsat are not small. Relator never explains
whether, after submission of the initial subcontracting plan, each prime corig&dis to ED
indicate that any of the subcontracted work was performed by any smak4sesn But because
it has omitted aninformation on this point, Relator has failed to establish that any such claims
are, in fact, false at all. Without farore facts concerning the subcontracting plan and promises

made theein, subsequent billing submissidios each prime contractgand any rewards a
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contractor received as a result of meeting or exceeding the goalsgis@t the initial
subcontracting plan, the Court cannot determine what, if anything, providegafi®undation
for Relator’s allegations of falsityndlerits fraudulent inducement theory of relief

Thus, the Couris left without anyfactualallegationgo support the contenticthat
ConServePioneeror WAM, respectivelyactedfraudulentlyor violatedanapplicable
regulation at thetime of submission of the purportediglseclaim. SeeConServeMem. 2
(explainingthatRelatorhasfailed to establisithat ConServe knetiat Protocolwasnot a
qualifying small businesst thetime it submittecthe subcontractinglan) Def. Pioneer’sReply
Supporting MotDismiss(“PioneeReply”) 7,ECFNo. 106 (explaininghatPioneercannot
possiblyhavemadea fraudulent inducemebly submittingasmallbusiness subcontractipéan
in 2008whenit did notlearnthatBassnolongerqualified until 2009 or 2010)Alorica/GRSI
Reply 10 (explaininghat Uniquity did notexistuntil 2011,two yearsafterthe original 200D
task order). In fact, without knowing what the prime contractors promised at the inception, it is
impossible to infethatanyfalse claims werenade atnypoint. AccordinglyPCA Integrityhas
not setforth a plausibleclaim for relief under a fraudulent inducement theoryialbility —let
alone aclaim sufficientto meetRule9(b)’s heightenegleadingstandard.

b. ImpliedFalseCertification Theory

Turning nowto PCA Integrity’simplied falsecertificationtheory ofliability, sucha
theoryapplieswhenanentity hasmade“a falserepresentationf compliarce with anapplicable
federalstatute federalregulation, ocontractuaterm.” Comstor 308 F.Supp. 3dt 79 (quoting
United Statesexrel. McBridev. Halliburton Co.(McBride), 848 F.3d 1027, 103(D.C. Cir.

2017));seealsoSAIG 626 F.3cht 1266.
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Here,Relator'sargumentgall shortbecausérelatormisrepresentandmuddleswvhatis
requiredto allegea cognizablelaim under controllindaw. Evenif Relatordoes noheedto
“allege theexistenceof arequesfor paymentfor particularity,” PCA Integrity mustpleadwith
particularity“the circumstancesonstitutingfraud.” Folliard, 722F. Supp. 2dat 26—27
(emphasis removedfirst quotingUnited Statesexrel. Davisv. District of Columbia591
F.Supp.2d 30, 3{.D.C. 2008),thenquotingFed.R. Civ. P.9(b)). And again,thispleading
mustsatisfythe Rule9d(b) particularitystandardy providingeachDefendanwith “notice of the
who, what,when,where,andhowwith respecto thecircumstancesf thefraud” Tran, 53F.
Supp. 3cat 123. Without thesedetails pledwith the particularitythat Rule 9(b) requires, the
Court cannot determine whether liability for fraudulent claims for paymempieply attaches.
For the following reason®CA Integrity hasnotsaid enough to establish a claim for refef.

The core dfciency is straightforward: the face of the pleading does not establish
“where” or “when” theallegedlyfalseclaimsoccurred. For prime contra¢or defendants
ConServePioneerandWAM, the onlyindicationof “where” requiresmultiple levelsof
inferenceto discernthatmisleadingor fraudulenstatementsveresubmittedto ED aspart of
smallbusiness subcontracting plans, ostensibMv/ashingtonDC (thoughthisis left implicit in
theamendedctomplain). Am. Compl.{132-36 (discussing ConServe); 195-99 (discussing
WAM); 237-42 (discussingioneer). No additionaldetailis providedthat couldelucidatethe
locationof thesesubmissions aanyotherfraudulentclaimsor misrepresentationsadeor
causedo bemadeby theprime contractor defendasit Relator’soppositionbriefsdo not,
moreoverconnectup otherfactualallegationgo the subcontracting plans. As the Court just

discussed, Relator says next to nothing at all about the subcontracting plans emikegr

22 As noted prewusly, Relator must also establish materiality with the particularity
required to satisfy Rule 9(b). The Court discusses matetiadity Section 1V.C.2.
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allegedly contained therein. Inste&klatoragaininsiststhatPCA Integrity neednotidentify
anyspecificfalseclaimsfor paymento surviveDefendantsmotionsto dismiss. SeeOpp’nto
ConServe, ProtocondState28; Opp’nto Pioneer EdgewaterandBass28; Opp’nto
Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity,andPRC16. Withoutmoreto identify thecircumstancesoncerning
theallegedfraud,however all that the Court has akegal conclusionsouchedasfactual
allegations—far shortof whatRule12(b)(6),let alone Rul@(b), demands.SeeTwombly 550
U.S.at555.

Thislack of clarity concerningvhat, exactly,the prime contractorareallegedto have
done, and where they did i$,especiallyproblematidoecausé’CA Integrity alsofails to clarify
whenthe actions occurredRelatorstateghat ED issuedthe originalPCA solicitationon May
29, 2008 Am. Compl. T 52thatinteresteccompaniesubmittedproposaldy June 26, 2008d.
andthat“[t]he first transferof accounts undehis contractoccurredn thefirst quarterof 2009,”
id., with thetaskorderspertainingto unrestricted®CAsconcludedn late April 2015,id. 1 60.
Left unsaid however s whenthe subcontractinglanwassubmittedandwhen,if ever,the
prime contractor defendanteadeanyfurtherfraudulentimisrepresentationsrlhis specificity
concerning the circumstances of the alleged fraud is essential because thet&€h®sat
liability, not to underlying fraudulent activity, but to thiaim for payment.”Tottenl, 286 F.3d
at 551 (internal quotation marks and citation omittégilotingUnited States ex rel. Hopper v.
Anton 91 F.3d 1261, 1266 (9thir. 1996)). The Courtcanvaguelyinfer, basedon thealleged
facts thatthey must haveeensubmittedat some poinbetweenJune 200§whenED issuedts
solicitation)andthefirst quarterof 2009(whenthefirst transferoccurred)if not,then

ostensibly, thdirst transferwould not haveakenplace. But Rule 9(b)requiresmorethansuch
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attenuatednferences BecausdRelatorhasfailed to providemorefor the prime contractor
defendantsits pleadingdoesnotclearthe particularitybar >

ThoughRelatorofferscomparativelynorefor the subcontractoraflendantsPCA
Integrity’s pleadingstill comes ugshort. Forthe subcontractodefendantsRRelator’simplied
certificationtheoryrestson theassertiorthat“eachSubcontractor defendaseli-certifiedthatit
wasasmallbusinessn orderto gainsubcontract opportunities.” Am. Comfjl15. Consider,
by way of example, Defendant Protoc®CA Integrity allegesthat Protocolsubmittedannual
self-certificationsto the SBA attestingio its smallbusinesstatusandlastsubmitteda
certificationin 2014,id. 1 186—87yet Relatordoesnot offer anyadditional discussion ahe
selt-certifications PCA Integrity defendsts factualallegationsassufficient, contendinghatthis
suitis distinctfrom thosesuchasSill, whereinthe“plaintiff wasunableto identify anydetails
about the contents gertification.” Opp’nto ConServeProtocol,andState36 (citing 71 F.
Supp. 3cat 94). “In contrast,’Relatorargues,;the AmendedComplaintallegesnumerougimes
that Protocol’sself-certificationcontainedhefalserepresentatiothatit wasboth asmall
busineseandaWOSB,” suchasthe August2011statemenby Protocol’'sTracy Dudekassuring
“ConServethat Protocolwasregisteredn the governmerdatabasasaself-certified small
business.”ld. (citing Am. Compl.§179, 18688

But for Protocol and for all of the subcontractor defendd@A Integrity's analysis

speedsight pastthe operativéegal principle: theneedto plead,with particularity,the

23 Moreover, as the Court suggested previously and discusses with respect to the public
disclosure Brinfra Part IV.E, the specifitiming is even more important here because of
intervening changes in the underlying substantive law. Without clarity aboulethpedadates of
the conduct, Defendants are left without the ability to discern which |egalastds govern
Relator’s allegationsCf. Si I, 71 F. Supp. 3d at 85 (quotihdcCready 251 F. Supp. 2d at 116)
(noting that Rule 9(b)’s application in FCA suits “ensure[s] that defendants haygeatel@otice
of the charges against them to prepare a defense”).
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circumstancesurroundindgalseclaimsthatthe Defendanmadeor causedo bemadeto the
government.Relatorrepeatedlynsiststhatit hasprovidedwhatRule 9(b) demandseiterating

versions of the theory th#itis Court “shouldhesitateto dismiss’ its “complaintunder Rule
9(b)” if it “is satisfied(1) thatthedefendanhasbeenmadeawareof theparticularcircumstances
for which shewill haveto prepareadefensattrial, and(2) thatplaintiff hassubstantial
prediscovery evidence of thofeets.” Opp’nto ConServe, ProtocohdndState7 (quotingKane
798F. Supp. 2cht 193);seeid. at 6—8 Opp’nto Alorica/GRS]J Uniquity, and PRC 15 n.6
(“[TThis Circuit has made clear that . . . [the relator] is not required &acptepresentative
samples of the claims actually submitted to the governimégtiotingHeath 791 F.3d at 126)).
But Relator is mstakeninformationabout the particular circumstances at igsuackinghere
Consider Protocol once more, by way of example. PCA Integgirgrexplains et alonewith
anyparticularity,howthe 2011statementthe 2014certification,or anyotherallegedself
certificationmeantthateitherProtocol or any other subcontractor defendant “knowingly
present[ed]or cause[d}o bepresentedafalseor fraudulentlaim for payment or approvdlin
contravention of 3U.S.C.8 3729(a)(1)(AYemphaisadded). If, as explained above, PCA
Integrity has failed to indicate which, if any, of the contractor defendelaiishs for payment
were false, it has likewise failed to show how the subcontractor defendasesl dalse claims to
be presented by the contractor defendants (PCA Integrity does not seem tthatidige
subcontractor defendants themselves submitted any claims for payment to ED)

Nor doesPCA Integrity explain,with particularity,how theallegedself-certifications
indicatethatthe subcontractor defendants “knowinggde], use[d], ocauséd] to bemadeor

used, dalserecordor statemenmaterialto afalseor fraudulentclaim,” in violation of 31 U.S.C.

§3729(a)(1)(B) OntheCourt'sbestreadof the sprawlingamendedomplaintandsubsequent
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filings, Relator'stheoryappeard¢o bethateachof the subcontractommadefraudulentself-
certificationsbecausehe subcontractorknewat thetime of theself-certificatiors thatthey did
not complywith the controllingsizerulesfor smallbusinessegjet representethatthey did.
Seege.g, Am. Compl.{9133 (discussing Protocol*false misrepresentationghatit wasan
eligible smallbusiness), 184—-89 (discussiptocol’sself-certificationsthatit wasasmall
business despiies relationshipwith State). But thepageghatall partiesfill addressing possible
affiliation area sideshovin this context?* ThesalientandantecedenRule 9(b) points that
Relatorhasnotdiscussedhe purporteself-certificationsthemselvesvith adequatarticularity,
especiallywhenit comesto specifyingthetiming of each(which matters all the more because
the underlyingNCAIS sizethresholdchangedvertime). What information did each self-
certification contain, andhich aspects of it, specifically, were fals&nd how did the
subcontractors’ selfertifications relate to the claims for payment made by the contractors to

ED? Once again, Relator does npesfy. Nor doesPCA Integrityidentify, beyond mentioning

24 The Court does not imply that the substantial ink spilled by Relator and Defendants
alike in addressing affiliation is unimportant in the final disposition of the suit. tHwat this
juncture, it is not necessary to address these points becauss Hresyen more basic problem:
the lack of required specificity concerning the allegedly fraudulent citeunoss under which
the affiliation arguments arise. By way of analogy, if one seeks to detewhether or not a
description of the sun as dim has enough particularity to conclude that it refensmtarthnot
dusk, then it would be premature to engage in a fact-intensive inquiry to determihenv#e0
and 8:45 AM are both early morning hours. Here, the Court finds there to be a lack of
particularity concerning the first issue: whether the facts allege, tetrearequired by the
applicable pleading standard, enough about the basic conditions to discern whethamitas da
dusk. For the reasons articulated at length in the body of this memorandum opinion, Relator ha
not done so. PCA Integrity does not substantiate its claims with concretel #letyations that
establish organizatiomide actions taken to execute the alleged fraud within each defendant
entity, ideally connecting theséleggations to one or two examples of a claim that the defendant
submitted, stated, or caused to be submitted or st&eelHeath791 F.3d at 126 (finding
pleading adequate where plaintiff did not identify details about specifrogratg, but did
“providg[] factual specificity concerning the type of fraud, how it was implementedhand t
training materials used, all of whi¢Wwa]s then corroborated by the concrete example ofa]
Detroit audit documenting the very type of overbilling that follows the compdapatttern”).

Until this pleading requirement is satisfied, the Court reserves judgment mogcaffiliation.
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self-certificationsandmakingvaguereferenceso the prime contractorsassociatedrequestgor
payment,’id. § 193,anyotherallegedlyproblematiaclaimsonwhichits implied false
certificationtheoryrests,notto mentionanyindicationof “substantialprediscoveryevidencé of
facts Kaneg 798F. Supp. 2dat 193,to substantiatanysuchallegations.

Thelack of adequatdactualallegationgo satisfyRule9(b), moreover, do not end there.
By way offurther illustration, consideedgewate Forthis subcontractoriRelatoragainrelies
on thesameconclusorylegalassertionso backup its factualallegations withouteven
attemptingto connect the dotisetweernthefactsin thepleadingandtheallegedfalseclaims. See
Opp’nto Pioneer EdgewaterandBass28—-29. Thesebareconclusorystatementslo notsuffice
to establisthow Edgewatemade® claimsunder acontractwhile ‘withh[olding] information
aboutits noncompliancevith materialcontractuarequirements. Morsell, 130F. Supp. 3dat
119 (quotingSAIC 626 F.3dat 1269). Accordingly, withoutmorespecificationregardingeach
of theallegedself-certifications whenit wasmade whatdiscreteissueor issuesach
problematicself-certificationmisrepresentednd what relationship such alleged
misrepresentation had to the claims for payment submitted by the contractatashe$édRelator
hasnotdischargedts pleading burdefor Protocol,Edgewateror Uniquity.

Versions of thessameissuesecur, moreover for the allegedlyaffiliated defendants.
Forexample consideBass. Relatorstatesa number ofactualallegations—but not one othem
clarifieshow, onPCA Integrity’s theory,Bassmadeclaimsto the governmeratall, or how it
caused Pioneer to submit false claims for payment toA€LBassputs the point;Relatorhas
notidentified asinglefalseclaim, noranyparticularfalseinvoice, norany particularfalse
amount,” nor‘the dateon which any supposedalseclaim wassubmittedo theU.S.

governmentwho it wassubmittedby, or who causedt to be submitted.”"BassMot. 6. This
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omissionis fatal to Relator’'sallegations. And it recurs for every one of the allegedifjiated

defendants.Underthis Circuit’s controllinglaw, an“ implied falsecertificatior occurs'[w]hen
. . . adefendanmakesrepresentations submittinga claim but omitsits violationsof statutory,
regulatory, orcontractuarequirements.”"McBride, 848 F.3cat 1031 (alterationin original)
(emphasisdded)quotingUniversal Health Service436S. Ct. at 1999);seealso Comstar308
F. Supp. 3cat 79. Without anyfactsalleginghowany allegediyaffiliated defendansubmitted
aclaimor caused such a claim to be submitiRRelatorhasnot established gdausibleclaim for
relief asrequiredby Rule 12(b)(6)or Rule9(b).2°
2. Failureto PleadFactsSufficientto Meetthe FCA’s Materidity Standard

Relator’s claim also falls short becaubke pleading does not establish the FCA'’s

requirement ofmaterialitywith the particularity that Rule 9(b) demarfsSee Universal Health

Services136 S. Ct. at 2004 n.6. In approaching this issue, the Court bears in mind the need to

policethe materiality requirement “rigorously McBride, 848 F.3d at 1031 (quotir8AIC 626

25 Given these glaring deficiencies and the lack of required detail concerning ritgferial
which the Court discusses next, the Court need not consider Defendants’ argumeratbat R
does not make sufficiently clear “who” is behind the alleged fraud to concludeGhat P
Integrity has not stated, with particularity, its claims for relief. That shayld Relator file an
amendedccomplaint, it should take care to specify how each entity institutionalized adunifi
scheme in which “corporate levers were pullddgath 791 F.3d at 125, to perpetrate the
alleged fraudulent conduct. This specificity should detail both (1) which individuals tbhok ac
within each distinct corporate entity, and how these actions relate to the pawditedations of
fraud, and (2) which factual allegations relate to which charges against wéfeshdant(s),
rather than incorporating all facts by reference with respect to all Defendants

26 As the Court discusses, the parties rely extensivelyroversal Health Service436
S. Ct. 1989, in raising materiality arguments.Umversal Health Serviceshe Supreme Court
assumed that the pdSERA verson of the law applied, notwithstanding the fact that some of the
claims at issue were submitted before the 2009 amendment to theldF@GA1998 n.1.In
McBride, this Circuit addressed claims brought under the pre-FERA version of the FCA and
assumed, as the parties had done, that the same standard articllaiedrnsal Health Services
applied to the dispute at hand. 848 F.3d at 1031 n.5. HereMaBnide the parties do not
argue that thé&niversal Health Servicestandard does not apply to any disputed conduct. Thus,
the Court assumes that the materiality requirements are the same under eitfeeraitne post-
FERA versions of the statute.
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F.3d at 1271)Universal Health Serviced36 S. Ct. at 2002 (quotirRAIC 626 F.3cat 1270)
(emphasizing, particulbrin the context of implied certification theories of liability, the need for
“strict enforcemenbf the Act’'s materialityrequirements”) For the forthcoming reasoribe
deficiencies concerning materiality present another reason to dRel&®r's claims.Because
of the factbound nature of the demanding materiality inquifylUniversal Health Service4d36
S. Ct. at 2004 n.6, the Court’s discussion focuses on two Defendants, Uniquity and PRC. That
said, the discussion dii¢se partieshould not béakenas a sign that the pleading passes muster
with respect to the other Defendants. To the contrary, the issues discussedappignerally,
too, and the pleading falters on materiality grounds for all Defendants.
a. Defendant Uniquity

The parties clashverthe properapplicationof the SupremeCourt’sUniversal Health
Serviceprecedentwith eachcontendinghatit shouldclearlyprevailon a propeapplicationof
controllinglaw. TheUniversal Health ServiceSourtaffirmedthat“the implied false
certificationtheorycanbe abasisfor liability . . .whenthe defendardubmitsaclaim for
paymentthatmakesspecificrepresentationabout the goods @ervicesprovided, but knowingly
fails to disclose the&lefendaris noncompliancevith astatutory,regulatory, ocontractual
requiremeri [and] . . .theomissionrenderghoserepresentationsiisleading. 136 S.Ct. at
1995. It furtherclarified thatwhetherthelegalrequirementstissuewere*“expresslydesignated
asconditions of payment’ not dispositiven any consideration ofateriality. Id. at 1996.
Rather,under the “demandinghaterialitystandard, “proobf materialitycaninclude, buis not
necessarilyimited to, evidencehatthe defendant knowtkatthe Government consistently
refusedo payclaimsin theminerun of casedbasedon noncomplianceith theparticular

statutory,regulatory, ocontractuatequirement. Id. at 2003. Extrapolatingfrom this principle,
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the conversapplieswith equalforce:the government’s payment of farticularclaimin full
despitets actualknowledgethatcertainrequirementsvereviolated provides ‘very strong
evidenceahatthoserequirementsarenotmaterial” asdoesregularpaymentof “a particulartype
of claimin full despiteactualknowledgethatcertainrequirementsvereviolated; without
signalingany“changein position.” Id. at 2003-04.

Relyingheavilyonthis precedentUniquity argues thatPCA Integrity hasfailed to “plead
thatthefalseself-certification” representingts size,which it mostrecentlysubmittedn 2013,
Am. Compl. T 23/ “was materialto the government’'decisionto makepayments under the
[ED] subcontract.”Def. Uniquity’s Mem. P. & A. Supporting MotDismiss(“Uniquity Mem.”)
14,ECFNo. 89-1. Morespecifically,Uniquity assertshatRelatorhasfailedto (1) plead“any
expresgrovisionasa condition opayment;”id.; (2) establisithatthe governmerdeclinesto
payclaimsfor aself-certificationviolation of thetypealleged,id. at 15; (3) sayanything about
“[w]hetherthe . . . [governmengaid Uniquity despite knowingtheallegedfacts,id. at 16; or
(4) indicateanychangen government position during timearlyfour yearsthattheactionhas
beenpending,d. at17.

Relator unsurprisinglyseesnaterialityratherdifferently. See e.g, Opp’'n to
Alorica/GRSI| Uniquity,andPRC17-25. At the outsetPCA Integrity stresseghatthe
materialityinquiry asks“whetherthe conduchas‘a naturaltendencyto influence,or [is] capable
of influencing, the payment oeceiptof moneyor property,”id. at 17 (quotingUniversal Health

Services136S. Ct. at 2002). This standardRelatorassertsis “far lower thanbutfor causation,

27 The Court takes the factual allegations in the amended complaint to be true and thus
accepts the stament that Uniquity, at a minimum, submitted an annualcsetification in
2013. Am. Compl.  230. However, because Relator refers tocesgifications,”id. 1 231,
without stating the years of these submissions, the Court is left uncertain lrethenirelator
alleges seltertifications in other years.
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or evenapreponderancef the evidenc¢hatthe government’s decisido pay would be
different.” Id. at 18. After recountinghe Universal Health Servicdactorsandnotingthata
courtis to considemwhether‘the requirementatissuego to ‘the very essencef thebargairy’
alongwith the otheenumeratedactorsaspartof a“holistic approachio determining
materiality,” PCA Integrity argueghatall of thefactorscutin its favor. Id. (first quoting
Universal Health Serviced36S. Ct. at 2003 n.5thenquotingComstor 308F. Supp. 3cat 85).
Relatorbuilds upthis holistic casein severabparts. First, Relatorhighlights thefactual
allegation“that thecontractsatissuestatethata . . . subcontractorfailure to complyin good
faith with a subcontractinglan. . . constitutesa ‘materialbreachof thecontract.” Id. at 18—19
(quotingAm. Compl. 180). SecondRelatorpointsto thefurtherfactualallegation“that, in
2018,ED canceledheprocuremenatissue,in partbecausé hadlearnedof Defendants’
widespreadgmall businesgraudthathadtaintedits originaltaskorders.” Id. at 19 (quoting
Am. Compl. 1 62 Third, Relatorcontendghatthese‘small-business subcontracting
requirementsventto theheartof thebargain’becauseompliancewith them“was the sole
factorin determiningvhetherDefendantsvereentitledto incentive paymentsindthe
subcontracting plarf@re materialpartsof the contractsatissue.” Id. Finally, Relator
distinguishests suitfrom thosethathaveassessedovernment knowledgey disputingthatthe
governmenthaseverhadactualknowledge oDefendantswrongdoing,”’asopposedo “mere
allegationsof wrongdoing.” Id. at 19, 22—23.Relatoraddsmoreoverthatthe government’'s
decisionnotto intervends “irrelevant” to thematerialityinquiry. Id. at22.
DespiteRelator'smultiple pagesof argumentspPefendants have the upper hamdhe
materialitydebate. The basicproblemis that, yet againRelatorfails to providefactual

allegationgo substantiatevhat, precisely,about theallegedconduct of therime contractorand
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subcontractors “material” in thesensecontemplatedby the FCA. Eventaking thefactual
allegationdn Relator’spleadingto betrue,andevenacceptinghata subcontractinglanby a
prime contractor (such as WANbat is never described in any detaiplicatesa subcontractor
(such agJniquity) in somefashion,it remainsunclearhow a“materialbreachof” the
subcontractinglanthatwasincorporatednto ED’s contractwith the prime contractosee
Opp’n to Alorica/GRSI, UniquityandPRC18-19,amountgo a condition of paymerior the
subcontractor Relatordoesnotconnecthesedots, nor doei explainwith anyspecificity how
the subcontractoself-certificationswerea“misrepresentationthatwas“material” to ED’s
“courseof action.” Universal Health Serviced36S. Ct. at2001. hstead PCA Integrity
reassed thesametheory ofliability, devoid offactualparticularsit is notclaimingthatthe
subcontractors “subjectto liability merelyfor violating anystatutoryor regulatory provision,”
butrather“alleg[ing] that Defendantgraudulently induced the governmeatenterinto contracts
basedontheir misrepresentationggardingthe subcontractor’'size,andthat Defendantgalsely
certifiedthattheyhadcompliedwith certaincontractuabndlegal requirements?® Opp’n to
Alorica/GRSI| Uniquity,andPRC23-24. Withoutmore,PCA Integrity’s claimsamountto little
morethanthesortof “[tlhreadbaregecitalsof theelementsf acauseof action, supportelly
mereconclusorystatements,thatareinsufficientto survive amotionto dismiss. Igbal, 556U.S.
at678

Additionally, Relatordoes notllegethatthe governmerittonsistentlyrefusego pay
claimsin theminerun of casedasedon noncomplianceith theparticularstatutory,regulatory,

or contractuakrequirement.”Universal Health Serviced36S. Ct. at 2003. Therearenofactual

28 Relator’s use of “Defendants,” rather than targeted reference to factsaand ttat
involve Defendant Uniquity, underscores the issue. Relator does not clarify, hexewdrezk,
how the fraudulent inducement argument that its pleading applied to the prime contracto
defendants would be salient with respect to the other categories of defendants.
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allegationdrom whichto drawthe conclusiorthatthe governmerttasdeclinedto paythis
categoryof claim afterevidence of noncompliance, neithereanyindicationthatanyspecific
claimscaused to be submitted by Uniquitlyby any other subcontractor defendegrenot paid
in full despiteallegednoncompliancevith an(unspecifiedexpressorimplicit legalrequirement
imposed oWAM or on any other contractor defend&hiRather than present such factual
allegationsPCA Integrity appears to contertlatsuchfactualsubstantiatiordoes noexisthere
because¢he government did nagverpossessactual knowledge oDefendantsirongdoing.”
Opp’n to Alorica/GRSI, UniquityandPRC22. In other words, on the Court’s best read of
Relator’'s argument, PCA Integrity asserts that it could not possibly practieaf allegations
that the government has not paid “claims in the mine run of cases based on noncompliance,”
Universal Health Serviced 36 S. Ct. at 2003, becaubke governmenivould haveneeded to
actuallyhave known about Defendants’ wrongdqiagd here, thgovernment only had “mere
allegations” of noncompliancdd. (“[M]ere awareness ddllegationsconcering noncompliance
.. . is different from knowledge of actual noncompliance.” (qudiintyersal Health Servs. v.
Escobar 842 F.3d 103, 112 (1st Cir. 2016) (emphasis removed) (on remand from Supreme
Court))). Puttingto the side théactthatRelatordoesnot cite asinglein-circuit caseto support

this “actualknowledge” standardgeeid. at 22—23,PCA Integrity’sactualknowledge argument

29 In addressing this point, the Court notes that Uniquity’s briefings refer torta# S
Business Association and not to ED or to the government more gen&albtor raises a valid
point by pushing back on Uniquity’s reliance on the Small Business Associati@varree
here; as PCA Integrity rightly observes, “ED, not the SBA, issued the tdsksat issue and
paid Defendants,” making it the relevant contracting agency. Opp’n to AloR&/®&niquity,
and PRC 25. But even without taking any of Uniquity’s arguments concerning the Small
Business Association into account, Relator fails to ipeany factual allegations to suggest that
ED “consistently refuses to pay claims in the mine run of cases based on noanoeplith the
particular statutory, regulatory, or contractual requiremeldhiversal Health Serviced36 S.
Ct. at 2003. Combined with the other gaps identified here, this lack of substantiasngédacis
that Relator does not establish the materiality required to make out a claim for relief
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betraysa subtle skewing dfiniversal Health Servicésdirectives. The pointis notthatthe
governmenhecessarily needdd haveactualknowledge ofllegedwrongdoing, butatherthat

factualallegationandicatingthat“‘the Governmenpays|or refuses to pay] particularclaimin
full despitats actualknowledgethatcertainrequirementsvereviolated,’ or ‘regularlypaysfor
refuses to pay] particulartype of claimin full despiteactualknowledgethatcertain
requirementsvereviolated,” canspeakio “the materialityof ‘the particularstatutory,
regulatory, orcontractuakequiremeritunderlying therelators claims” Comstor 308F. Supp.
3dat 87 (quotingUniversal Health Serviced36 S. Ctat 2003—04).These considerations are
part of the holistic analysiRather than provide factual allegations as part of this holistic
analysis, though, Relator invokes its “actual knowledggument—which, as the Court just
discussed, falls flat.

Thus, the bottom line is that Relator has not provigsaticularizedactual allegations
regarding the indicia of materiality. The issues include, but are not limitectackof
specific support regarding the government’s pagment of similar claims and theck of
clarity concerning what Uniquity’s “express conditiof payment” is in the first instanc&ven
takingastrue Relator’'sallegationthatED cancelleccontractan 2018basedn parton thetaint”
of thetype ofconductallegedhere this standalone, baldllegationdoes not providéactual
supportto clarify whatactsor omissiondy Uniquity were likely tohaveled the governmenb
refuseto pay Uniquity(or WAM) undertheoriginal ED contract. Accordingly,Relatorhas
failed to provide enougto establisimaterialityunder the=FCA’s demanding standafdr this

elementof aclaimfor relief.
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b. DefendanPRC

By way of further illustration, substantialtile sameis truefor allegedlyaffiliated
defendanPRC(and for all of the otheaallegedlyaffiliated cefendants, as this Court noted
previously). PRCraisesaseriesof discretepointsto arguethatRelator’spleadinglacksthe
requisitefactualallegationgo establishmateriality PRCarguesspecifically,thatRelatorfails
to provideanyfactualallegationgo establish(1) how “Uniquity’s misrepresenteself-
certificationsresultedn moniespaidthatthe government would not hapaid hadthe
misrepresentationseenknown,” Def. PRCs Mem P. & A. Supporting Mot. Dismiss (“PRC
Mem.”) 33 (citing Am. Compl.|1231-32), ECF No. 79-12) why the government would have
caredabout theallegedmisrepresentatioso long asthe collectionswereperformed giventhat
thecontractedservicesatissuewere“performancebased,’id. (quotingAm. Compl. § 53)(3)
that“Uniquity wasthe onlysmall business concesubcontractedy [WAM] to provide
services,’suchthatWAM violatedanythingin its subcontractingerms,” or thatWAM waseven
contractudly boundto contractwith anysmallbusinesseatall, id. at 34; and(4) that“Uniquity
would not haveeceivedthe subcontraatereit not asmallbusinesgoncerr’ id. Ratherthan
directly engage with angf thesecontentionsRelatoronce moreffersconclusorystatemerd
thattheseassertiongrenot appropriate consideratiofts a materialityanalysisat themotionto
dismissstage. SeeOpp’n to Alorica/GRSI, UniquityandPRC24 (“To theextentthese
argumentarerelevanttheygoto theissueof damagesnot materiality”); id. (“This contention
merelydisputes thallegationssetforth in the AmendedComplaint,whichis inappropriate on a
motionto dismiss.”).

But Relator’sattemptto write off theseallegationsasunsuitableat this procedural stage

is contrary tacontrollinglaw. The materiality inquiry is not merely suitable for disposition at
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this stage; it is in fact a required part of the Court’s analysis of whethéoRied& stated a claim
for relief under the FCAUniversalHealth Servicesl36 S. Ctat2004n.6 (“False Claims Act
plaintiffs mustalsoplead their claimsvith plausibility and particularity under Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure 8 and 9(b) by, for instance, pleading facts to support allegatimaseoiality”).
Despite Relator’s contentions, tissuefacing the Couris notwhetherthespecificfactual
allegationsaretrue. Rather, what this Court must determine is whethereareanyfactual
allegations suffientto suggesthat theallegedmisrepresentatiowas material in the sense that
it would haveaffectedthe government’'siecisionto payPRC(or WAM). As discussed
previously,Relatorhas not providedufficientfactualallegationsand PCA Integrit\s
conclusoryassertiorthatthe barepleadingsufficesto establishmaterialityis unavailing.

In addition, the pleading also fails to provide factual allegations that speakfitmedhe
Universal Health Servicefactor. whetherthe governmentrégularlypaysaparticulartype of
claimin full despiteactualknowledgethatcertainrequirementsvereviolated” 136S.Ct. at
2003-04. In fact, the filings before the Court suggest that this factor cuts agdaist.RAs
PCA points out, th&mall Business Administratidmasstatedn the FederaRegisterthat, out of
137firms thatmisrepresentethemselvess“being smallfor purposes ofederalprocurement
opportunities,’it was“unawareof anyfirms beingpenalized’under theelevantstatute—15
U.S.C. § 645(d)-fer this “fraudulent[] misrepresentatijon]. PRCMem 34-35 (quoting 80FR
7533-01, 735 (2015)) (emphasis removedly. PRCexplains citing to Relator’spleading the
clearesbasisfor Relator’sallegationsconcerningthe illegality andseriousnessf submitting
falsecertificationsis premisedupon 15 U.S.C. § 645.PRCReply Supporting MotDismiss11,
ECFNo. 107(citing Am. Compl.§179, 122, 123, 229)Logically, if the government has not

penalized fims for violations of this requirement, then it follows that it paid the firms despite
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their fraudulent misrepresentations and did not consider these misrepresentatiena. See
PRC Mem 35. PCA Integrity neverrespondso this pointatall, insteadcontendinghatthe very
invocation of the 8all Business Administratiois aredherring. Opp’n to Alorica/GRSI,
Uniquity, andPRC25.

The Court disagrees with Relator’s stance and findsefesenceo the FederaRegister
illuminating.® It seemsunlikely thatthe governmeriickedactualknowledgeof fraudulent
misrepresentationa all 137 of thenstanceshatthe Small Business Administratiaeferences.
And if the governmenhasregularlyproceededn normal businesgelationswith companieshat
mademisrepresentationsnder thesamestatutoryprovisionthatRelatorinvokeshereto
establishtheliability of the subcontract@ndallegedlyaffiliated defendantsthenthereis no
reasorto believethatit would havemodifiedits businesselationswith PRC(or the other
Defendantsynderthatsameprovision. In fact, there is no evidence that ED has done anything
with respect to the allegations in this case since they were first raised iA'20h6s,because
Relata hasfailed to addresghis point orto provide othefactualallegationghatspecifically
pertainto either Defendant PRC or to any of the other Defendartasfailed to establish
materialityhere.

Giventhisfailure to establishmaterialityandthe pleadingleficienciesdentified

previously, the CourtoncludeghatRelatorhasnotmadeout aclaim for relief thatsatisfies

30 The Court takes judicial notice of the Federal Regia$ a publichavailable
document.SeeFed. R. Evid. 201(b).

31 Although Relator correctly indicates that there are many reasons thagphetent of
Justice may or may not decide to pursugietamsuit, the allegations raised herein were
investigaed, in part, by the Department of Education Office of General Counsel (a falsicbf w
Relator’s counsel is well aware, given his intimate involvement in the goversmen
investigation). There is no indication that ED has taken any action, contractually,
administratively, or otherwise, as a result of the investigation.
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Rule 12(b)(6)andRule 9(b)for any of theDefendantsvith respecto its presentmenandfalse
statementlaims (Count landCountll). *2
D. ReverseFalseClaim

As previously mentionedn additionto its presentmenéindfalsestatementlaims,
RelatorallegesthatthenamedDefendantsaswell asthe JohrDoe Defendantsyiolatedanother
provision of theFalseClaimsAct: the“reverse”falseclaimsprovision,codifiedasamendedat
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G Drawingon all thefactualallegationdn its pleading,Relator
contendghat“Defendantsknowingly avoidedr decreasetheir obligationto pay ortransmit
moneyto the government.”Am. Compl.  337.PCA Integrity allegesthat, “[s]pecifically,
Defendants(i) made,used, ocausedo bemadeor usedrecordsor statement$o conceal,
avoid, ordecreas@bligationsto the United States{ii) therecordsor statementsverein fact
false;and(iii) it knewtherecordsor statementsverefalse.”®® Id. Accordingto Relator,because
“the AmendedComplaintspecificallyallegesfactsthatidentify Defendantsbbligationto pay
variouspenaltiesarisingfrom bothfederalandSBA regulations,’Opp’nto ConServe, Protocol,
andState41; Opp’nto PioneerEdgewaterandBass35; Opp’nto Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity, and
PRC42,andbecauseheexpandedlefinition of “obligation” under the podFERA amendments
to thereverseclaimsprovisionsweepsn DefendantsconductOpp’nto ConServe, Protocol,

andState42; Opp’nto PioneerEdgewaterandBass35; Opp’nto Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity, and

32 Again, because of the fact-bound nature of the demanding materiality ingfuiry,
Universal Health Serviced 36 S. Ct. at 2004 n.6, the Court’s analysis has focused on Uniquity
and PRC tdighlight concrete examples of the materiality deficiencies that plague Relato
pleading without filling pages with additional extremely similar descriptions difignas.

33 The Court is uncertain as to the antecedent for “it” in this sentence, since théngreced
noun is “Defendants” and Relator does not indicate which facts pertain to whicidBefis) in
support of this claim.
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PRC42, Defendantsrealsoliable underthis provision of theFCA.3* Thecorepointis that,
under this theory dfability, Defendantdhiavean“obligationto pay the governmenthat“arises
from contractualstatutory,andregulatory requirements,” Oppto ConServe, Protocohnd
State41; Opp’n toPioneer EdgewaterandBass34; Opp’nto Alorica/GRSI,Uniquity,andPRC
41, evenif those obligations involve tteameallegedmisrepresentatiorsnd/or other fraudulent
conductthatRelatorallegesamountto violations of the 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)@&)d(B).
Defendantarguethat, notwithstandind?CA’s purportedspecificity, Relatorhasfailed to
allegeanyfactsthat support theelementof this claim. Thecrux of Defendantsargument is that
thesameconductthatcreatediability under the other provisions of tR€A cannotalsocreate
anactionableobligation under theeversdalseclaimsprovision. SeeConServeMem. 42
(“Relatorhasfailed to identify anyspecificobligationby ConServeo pay the government.”);
ProtocolMem. 30 (“The AmendedComplaint [fRils [t]o [a]llege [a]ny [o]bligationto [p]aythe
[g]Jovernmenin [s]upport ofits [t]hreadbargr]everse=CA [c]laim.”); StateMem. 32 (arguing
thatRelatorhasfailed “to state with particularityor otherwise anyfactsthatwould impose
liability for areversdalseclaim”); PioneeMem. 35 (“Relatorallegesnofactsindicatingthat
Pioneethadapaymentobligationto theU.S. Governmentlet alonethatPioneersomehow

fraudulently avoideduchan obligation.”); EdgewateMem. 20 (notinglack of factual

34 Relator’'s Count IV contends that, to the extent wrongdoing occurred prior to May 20,
2009, th[e] Amended Complaint should be deemed to include violations of thEERR&-FCA,
e.g, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(7) (2006).” Am. Compl. 86 n.11. However, Relator’s opposition
offers no arguments whatsoever to explain how the alleged facts are actionabkbeipde-
FERA version of theeverse false claims provision, nor does Relator at any point challenge the
fact that Defendants appear to address the post-FERA version of this pro%ismre.g.
Alorica/GRSI Mem. 23 (explicitly referencing only post-FERA versionlaing). Thus,
following the parties’ lead in their briefings, the Court assuanggendathat only the post-
FERA version of the statute is salient in considering the alleged conducty énemt, because
this amended provision sweepsmiore condugtif the allegationgail under this standard, they
would also fall short under the earlier standard.
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allegationsconcerningedgewaterandstatingthat “money obtainedby the defendants
fraudulently,”in violation of anothef~CA provision, cannotorm basisof obligationfor reverse
falseclaim action);Bass Mem13 (“[T]here is no allegation that Bass owed money to the
government.”)Alorica/GRSIMem. 23 (“The [rleverseFCA [c]laim [lJacks [r]equired
[plarticularity.”); PRCMem 9 (“Relatoroffersnofactssupporting a 8729(a)(1)(Gklaim,i.e.
CountlV (the‘reversefalseclaim’).”). Forthefollowing reasons, the CougrantsDefendants’
motionsto dismissthis claim.

A reversdalseclaimis onethat“resultsin no paymento the governmentvhena
payments obligated.” Hoytev. Am.Nat'l RedCross 518 F.3d 61, 63 n.(D.C. Cir. 2008)
(quotingUnited Statesexrel. Bainv. Ga. Gulf Corp.,386 F.3d 648, 65@th Cir. 2004)). The
key issue here, and in many FCA suits under this provision, is what constitutes artitobfiga
As previously noted, the poft=RA version ofthereversedalseclaimsactionexpand its reach
by, inter alia, adding arexplicit definition of the ternfto addressvhatCongressawasthe
overly narrowinterpretationof theword ‘obligation’ thatsome courthadadopted,’Sill, 71F.
Supp. 3cat 89 (citing S.Rep.No. 111-10,at 13-15). TheFCA, as amendediefinesobligation
as“anestablishedluty, whetheror notfixed, arisingfrom anexpressorimplied contractual,
grantorgranteepr licensorlicenseerelationshipfrom afee-basedor similar relationshipfrom
statuteor regulation, ofrom theretentionof any overpayment.” 31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)(3).

Here, Defendants’ arguments appaifirst glanceo be about a lack of specificity in
Relator’s pleading.Digging deeper, however, the contention that Relator does not present any
specific obligatiorthatamounts to an established duty to make a payment to the government
stens from a more fundamental underlyipgemisethe same alleged misrepresentations

(alleged material breach of the subcontracting plan, incorporated as hatergof contracts
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with ED, andalleged false or misleading sekrtifications in violation of controlling statutes
and regulations) cannot be the source adi@onableobligation under the statute. There is no
binding precedent addressing whether alleged breaches of contractual oblgativas those
at issue here give rise to pddERA reverse false claim liabilit}>. However, the Court looks for
guidance to the dispositions of a number of district conrtsis circuit all of whichhave
distinguished between conduct giving rise to obligations that are actionable uageotgion
and the concealment of information that may be separately actionable under té\the FC
presentment and false claim provisions. These courts daterthinedhat[a] reverse false
claim may not rest . . . on the argument ‘that an obligation arose out of [the d]efendants
concealment of their allegedly fraudulent activity,” because ‘by this |gggt about any
traditional false statement or presentment actvould give rise to a reverse false claim action;
after all, presumably any false statement actionable under sections 8/ 28ja)r

3729(a)(1)(B) could theoretically trigger an obligation to repay the frauduletiyned
money.” United States ex feRiedel v. Bos. Heart Diagnostics Car32 F. Supp. 3d 48, 82—
83 (D.D.C. 2018) (quotintnited States ex rel. Groat v. Bos. Heart Diagnostics C@%b F.
Supp. 3d 13, 32 (D.D.C. 201 @mended on reconsideration in pa286 F. Supp. 3d 155
(D.D.C. 2017))see alsdJnited States ex rel. Scollick v. Narufd5 F. Supp. 3d 26, 41 (D.D.C.
2016) Sill, 71 F. Supp. 3d at 9United States ex rel. Scott v. Pac. Architects & Engineers
(PAE), Inc, 270 F. Supp. 3d 146, 155 (D.D.C. 2017hited States WewmanNo. CV 16-1169

(CKK), 2017 WL 3575848, at *9 (D.D.C. Aug. 17, 2017). The Court finds these constructions,

3% As theLandiscourt noted in construing the pFEERA reverse false claims action,
“[t]he D.C. Circuit has not addressed whether an alleged breach of contraduteman
‘obligation’ to pay money to the government under the FCA reverse false claiwisiqgn.” 51
F. Supp. 3a&t56 (citing Hoyte 518 F.3d at 69 n.6). The Circuit has not addressed this issue
postFERA, either
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which are grounded in the logical interaction between different FCA causesoof ac
compelling. Relator’s briefmentions no contradictory authority, nor dé¥3A Integrityin fact
cite to any legal authority in support of its contrary position.

What the Court is left with is the plain text of the amended complaint and Relator’s
conclusory legal assertions. This is not enough. Even construed in the light most éateoitabl
PCA Integrity’s pleading contains tiactual allegatiosof specific obligatios owed by
Defendantghat aredistinct from the same allegations of concealment involved in the other
claims Relatois opposing argumermonflates two issues: whether an alleged breach of
contractual agreements and alleged misrepraens in selfeertifications might create
statutory or regulatorgenalties, anavhether there is an independent obligation to pay the
government.SeeOpp’n to ConServe, Protocol, and State 42; Opp’n to Pioneer, Edgewater, and
Bass 35; Opp’n to Alorica/BS|, Uniquity, and PRC 4galleging that Defendants have a clear
“obligation to pay various penalties arising from both federal statute and &Rwations).

Apart from these allegations that penalfi@sstatutory and regulatory violations are owed, no
other affirmative obligation to pay the government is indicatéol does Relator offer any
indication that the government has already assessed any penaliiesut more, however, there
is not enough to establish that Defendants have an obligation for an unassessedntontinge
regulatory penaltyevenunderthe more expansiveostFERA FCA. Accord United States ex
rel. Simoneaux v. E.I. DuPont De Nemours &,84.3 F.3d 1033, 1039 (5th Cir. 2016)
(“[U]nassessed regulatory penalties ateohtigations under the FCA. . . . [W]here, as in this
case, a regulatory penalty has not been assessed and the government bdshmipieiceeding
to assess it, there is no established duty to payriifed States ex rel. Kasowitz Benson Torres

LLP v. BASF Corp.285 F. Supp. 3d 44, 53 (D.D.C. 2017An unassessed, contingent penalty
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is not an FCA ‘obligation’ subject to suit under the reverse false claims prov)saififid, 929
F.3d 721 (D.C. Cir. 2019¢f. United States ex rel. Petras v. Simparel, 18867 F.3d 497, 505
(3d Cir. 2017) (concluding that the term “obligation” under the p&$RA FCA
“doesnotinclude a duty that is dependent on a future discretionary act”).

The situationat hands easily distinguishablanoreoveifrom cases that have found a
plausible claim for reverse false claim liabilitfFor instance, iMorsell, this Court was able to
specify a particular obligation such as the defendant’s “knowing([] fail[ure] tesattje
Contract’s pricing terms [for pricing with the government] as requiredbyPrice Reduction
Clause.” 130 F. Supp. 3dt 125. Unlike the company Morsell, which was contractually
bound to follow controlling regulations by “notify[ing] the Government of any pedeiction as
soon as possible, but not later than 15 calendar days after its effective date’odifglifig the
contract to reflect any price reduction which becomes applicabllegt 114 (internal quotation
marks and citatins removed), Relator states no contractual or regulatory obligation that swvolve
alegally-required price reduction.

Accordingly, on the facts alleged, Relator has failed to plead the elementgddquir
make out a reverse false claim for any of trdeDdants®

E. Conspiracy Claim

The remaining count in PCA Integrity’s pleading, Countldtings a conspiracy charge,

again incorporating by reference all facts in the amended complaint andgtlegfin

“Defendants knowingly conspired, and may still be conspiring . . . to commit acts inoriaét

3¢ Moreover, even if the Court accepted Relator’s theory and concluded that the same
predicate concealment that allegedly creates liability under other stgbubergions was itself
enough to give rise to possible liability here, these claims themselvesfeuffiethe deficiencies
identified previously, all of which would recur with equal force in this context.
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31 U.S.C. §8 3729(a)(1) & (a)(2); 31 U.S&8 3729(a)(1)(A) & (a)(1)(B)¥ Am. Compl. T
334. For the reasons set forth bel&®e)atorfails to make out a claim for relief on this count

First, civil conspiracy fundamentals provide grounds for dismissing this action. Although
the FCA does not define a conspiracy, courts have routinely applied civil conspireiyles
to FCA conspiracy actionsSee, e.g.United States v. Toyobo C811 F. Supp. 2d 37, 50
(D.D.C. 2011) Westrick 685 F. Supp. 2d at 140nited States ex rel. Durcholz v. FKW 1489
F.3d 542, 545 n.3 (7th Cir. 199@jiting United States v. Murph®37 F.2d 1032, 1039 (6th Cir.
1991)) For claims ofcivil conspiracy, there can be no liability for a conspiracy unless there is
an independently actionable ground for liabil®y,ll, 71 F. Supp. 3d at 98, whether that sounds
in tort law, seeHalberstam,705 F.2d at 47@underlying tortious act is required to give rise to
civil conspiracy liability), or in the text of a statusmeAmin 26 F. Supp. 2d at 165 (no
conspiracy where alleged activities consisted of entirely lawful puystdecause FCA liability
attaches to “the claim for paymentbttenll, 286 F.3dat 551, there can by definition be no
ground for FCA liability unless Relator establishes the submission of amalaty false claim.
For the reasons detailed above, Relator hapledtfacts thasuffice toestablish an underlying
false claimin this suit Thus,Relatorcannot raise atandaloneconspiracy claim.

Moreover,as Defendants argue, the factual allegations in the pleading do not clear Rule
9(b)’s heightened pleading standafke, e.gConServe Mem. 4, 11 (challenging nebulous,
imprecise nature of pleading and failure to identify any specific agneieimvolving ConServe);
State Mem 34—-35(attacking complaint’s failure to provide any facts that indicate a specific

agreement between State and “any other Defendant to submit false claims stafi@sents to

37 Thus, to make the implicit, explicit, Count I alleges a conspiracy to violatethet
pre- and post-FERA versions of the FCA’s presentment and false statement provisialegsut
notallege a conspiracy to violate the FCA'’s reverse false claims provision.
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the government”); Pioneer Mem. 34 (“The Amended Complaint does not spécfwere the
members of the alleged conspiracy” or “any facts as to the time, place, @ ofséur alleged
conspiratorial agreement.”); Edgewater Mem. 20 (“[T]hemoiglentification of a single factual
averment that Edgewater actually entered into.anyagreement [to further the alleged fraud]
with anyof the other 10 defendariis Bass Mot. 12 (“Relator does not specify any facts as to
the time, place or nature of an alleged conspiratagegement.”); Alorica/GRSI Mem. 22
(contending that conspiracy count lacks any suggestion that WAM joined any agreenueh
less the specific details (time, place, content, and the individuals involvedegeyiRule
9(b)"); PRC Mem 8 (“The ‘who, what, where, when'’ is not clearly stated as required by the
pleading standard.”) This standard applies with equal force to an FCA conspiracy claim.
United States ex reGGrubbs v. Kannegantb65 F.3d 180, 193 (5th Cir. 2009) (discusd$hi)
Inv. Group LC v. IFX Markets, Ltd529 F.3d 1087, 1097 (D.C. Cir. 2008), which applied, in
context of jurisdictional analysis, Rule 9(b) pleading requirements to RICQicarysaction);
Toyobq 811 F. Supp. 2d at 51 (applying Rule 9(b) to FCA conspiracy cldimsee why,
consider thehird element of this claim, which requires Relator to estalhiah“one or more
conspirators knowinglgommittedone omrmoreovertactsin furtheranceof theobjectof the
conspiracy.” Sill, 71F. Supp. 3cat 89 (quotingMiller, 608 F.3dat 899).
Here,assumin@rguendahat Relator alleges three discrete conspiracies, each of which
involves the identified prime contractor, subcontractor,aledjedlyaffiliated third party within
each of the three groups, Relator’s complaint contains insufficient paritizaVéh respect to
each of the conspiracies. Apart from vague references to a “shared” “consgidif@ctive to
deceivé the U.S. about Defendants’ and co-conspiratoaffiliated relationships with one

another, and with other partiegyin Compl.§ 300, which occurred “from at least 2011 to the
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present,’id. § 302, Relator provides riactual allegations thamdicate what the “overt acts”
were when theyoccurredor how they were “knowingly committed . . . in furtherance of the
object of the conspiracy.Sill, 71F. Supp. 3cat 89 (quotingMiller, 608 F.3dat899. What,
specifically,did each of the partigsurportedly agree to do, and when did they make this
agreemen(e.g., how there could be an agreement to fraudulently induce a contract when the
alleged ceconspirator did not yet exist)? When and how, specificallyatlidast one co
conspirator knowigly commit at least one overt act in furtherance of this agreement? Relator
never saysBut without saying moreyith particularity,PCA Integrity has failed to discharge its
pleading burden. Thus, the Codismis®s this count.
F. The Public DisclosureBar

One finalsubstantivessue remainsvhether Relatomay pursue thigui tamaction or
whether, as Defendants argtlee FCA’s public disclosure bar coupled with the inability to
confirm Relator’s claimed “original source” staimsikes thection improper.SeeConServe
Mem. 39-42; Protocol Mem. 32—-33tate Mem. 3638; Pioneer Mot. 32—-33Relator asserts
that the public disclosure bar is inapplicable here for two reabass Defendants have failed
to establish that there has been a public disclosure of the allegations underlgiogpient in
the manner that the FCA and this Circuit’s law require. Opp’n to ConServe, Protatel4&-
47; Opp’nto Pioneer, Edgewater, an@ss 25. Secondgccording to Relatoeven if the
material had been publicly disclos&{;A Integrityqualifies as an original source of the

informationand the bar does not apply. OpfrConServe, Protocol, State 48-49; Op@n
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Pioneer, Edgewater, Ba26—-27. For the following reasons, the Cdedlines to dismiss the
suit on public disclosurieargrounds3®

Underthis Circuits controlling law, there has been a public disclosure in the FCA
contextif the essential elements of thkkegation of fraud are revealedtdm which readersor
listenersmayinfer . . .the conclusiorthatfraudhasbeencommitted. Springfield Terminall4
F.3dat654. Where there has been such a public disclosure, this statutory bar “prevenys suits b

those other than an ‘original sourt#’ “the government already has enough information to

38 without ignoring the 2010 amendments that made the FCA'’s public disclosure bar
non-jurisdictional, the Court assumaguendathat the public disclosure bar is jurisdictional as
it applies to this law suit. Before the relevant amendntieatpublic disclosurbarwas
consideregurisdictionalbasedon theplain text of thestatute. See31 U.S.C.8§ 3730(e)(4)(A)
(2009)(“No courtshallhavejurisdiction overanactionunderthis sectionbasedupon the public
disclosure ofllegationsor transactions.”)seealsoUnited Statesexrel. Sheav. Verizon
Commc’ns]nc. (Shea ), 160F. Supp. 3d 16, 24-28.D.C. 2015),aff'd sub nomUnited States
exrel. Sheav. CellcoP’ship (Sheall), 863 F.3d 923D.C. Cir. 2017) (quoting 31 U.S.C. §
3730(e)(4)(A);U.S.exrel. Oliver v. Philip Morris USAInc. (Oliver), 763 F.3d 36, 38 n.(D.C.
Cir. 2014). The post-amendment statutory languag@otablecontrasteliminatesthis
jurisdictionallanguage.See31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(A) (2010)The courtshalldismissan
actionor claim underthis section,unless opposelly the Governmentif substantialljthesame
allegationsor transactionasallegedin theactionor claim werepublicly disclosed.”). “Thus,
whentheamendedersionof § 3730(e)(4)(Appplies,public disclosure does not deprive the
Court ofsubjectmatterjurisdiction, butmerelydeprivestheplaintiff of hisclaim.” Shea ] 160
F. Supp. 3dcat 24 (citing Heath 791 F.3dat 120; Avocadoslusinc. v. Veneman370 F.3d 1243,
1249(D.C.Cir. 2004)). Notwithstandingome signalthatthe“amendmentslo not applyto
pendingsuitsfiled beforetheir enactment, Oliver, 763 F.3dat 38 n.2,atleastonedistrict court
hasengagedn adetailedanalysisof retroactivityprinciples and concludetiat“it is thedateof
Defendarg’ allegedlyfraudulent conduct—not thaatewhenlitigation is filed—thatgoverns
which” versionof the public disclosurbara courtis to apply,Sheal, 160F. Supp. 3t 24
(citing United Statesexrel. Atkinsonv. Pa. Shipbuilding Co.473 F.3d 506, 512-1®.C. Cir.
2007);United Statesexrel. Lujanv. HughegAircraft Co.,162 F.3d 1027, 103[®Bth Cir. 1998).
Here, as noted previously, there is a great deal of ambiguity concerninlpgfeel 2iming of
certain critical events. In the face of this ambiguity, the Court assumesutdhading that the
amendment refers to the date of the alleged conduct, making the public disclosure bar
jurisdictional for at least some of the allegations in this suit. In any ef/éns§ is not the proper
construction, then, because the suit was filed after the operative date of the 2ditnamts on
March 20, 2010, the public disclosure bar is posdictional; if so, then it is an element of the
cause of action, and there are independent non-jurisdictional grounds on which to dismiss
Relator’s claims.
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investigate the case” and to decide whether or not to prosectiiee information could at least
have alerted lavenforcement authorities to the likelihood of wrongdoin@liver, 826 F.3d at
472;see also Stapleg73 F.3d at 88 (quotingpringfield Terminal1l4 F.3d at 654-55)To
qualify as an original sourcéheplaintiff-relatormusteither (1) hgve] voluntarily disclosedo
the Government theformationonwhich allegationsor transactiongn aclaimarebased’ prior
to a “public disclosure” as defined by the statotg?) “hgve] knowledgethatis independent of
andmateriallyaddsto the publicly disclosedallegationsor transactions” that ve been
“voluntarily provided thenformationto the Governmertbeforefiling anaction” under the
FCA'’s qui tamprovision. 31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(B).

Here, Defendants contemath that the public disclosure kapplies,and that Relator
cannot properly claim original source status. On Defendants’ account, the pstibsdie bar
applies because ti8mall Business Administratiomas on notice of a potential affiliation
between, at a minimum, the parties in the ConSé&mapcol, and State cluster several years
before Relator filed this suitSeeConServe Mem. 39-41; Protocol Mem. $2ate Mem. 37.
Assuming without deciding that this notice amounts to a public disclo§tine same issues
presented herehe Court noetheless finds it premature to dismiss Relator’s claimthe basis

that PCA Integrity lacksriginal source statu¥. Defendants contend that Relator cannot

39|t bears repeating that the Court reserves judgment on the question of whether the
was a public disclosure in this case. This Circuit’s controlling law, as prévimesitioned, sets
forth a clear test for public disclosufd: X + Y = Z, Z represents thallegationof fraud and X
and Y represent its essentidraents. In order to disclose the fraudukeahsactionpublicly,
the combination of X and Y must be revealed, from which readers or listeneraferag, i.e.,
the conclusion that fraud has been committegigringfield Termingl14 F.3d at 654 (emphas
in original). Thus, “a qui tam action cannot be sustained where both elements of the fitaudule
transactior—X and Y—are already public, even if the relator ‘comes forward with additional
evidence incriminating the defendantStaples 773 F.3d at 86 (quotingpringfield Terminal
14 F.3d at 655). Based only on the facts alleged in Relator’s pleading, the Court isanot cer
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possibly be an original source “because it was not formed as a legauetititiay 20, 2015—
two years after the public disclosure to tBenfall Business Administratipifi ConServe Mem.
41. But taking the facts in the complaint to be true, as the Court must in deciding a 12(b)(6)
motion to dismissDefendants’ argument falls flat. The untmverted facts indicate that
Relator consists of “participants in the PCA initiative” with “direct knowked§the conduct
alleged.” Compl. § 29. Defendants do not presenfuatiyer factual assertions or legal
argumentatiorio explain why the Court should discredit PCA Integrity’s claimsithat
“conducted an independent investigation to uncover false clailtis On therecord before the
Court,Relator may haveoluntarily provided the government with information “independent
of,” and which ‘materiallyadded] to[,] the publiclydisclosedallegationsor transactions” before
filing the instangui tamaction, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(BBecaussuch conductould qualify
PCA Integrity for original source status, and because Defendants do not presepeding
reason that this statutory provision doesawter Relator’'s conduct heréne Court declines to
dismiss the suit on public disclosure bar grouridstead the Courresolvegheissuesbeforeit
on the nonjurisdictionalissueof failure to establisha claim for relief asrequiredby Rules
12(b)(6)and9(b)*° andgrants Defendants’ motions to dismiss Relator’s cldonshe reasons

previously explained*

whether “the combination of X and Y” was revealed, thereby creating a putatioglire prior to
Relator’s alleged presentatiofinformation to the government.

40 Again, the Court reserves judgment on whether the public disclosure bar is
jurisdictional in this suit given considerable ambiguity concerning the datgseddtive events.
The Courtneednotconfirm jurisdictionto rule on other groundsecausehe “requiremento
confirmjurisdictionat the outset controls ‘onihentheexistenceof Article Ill jurisdictionis in
doubt,” suchthatthe courtmayleaveanissueof statutory—asopposedo Article Il —
jurisdictionundecidedvhile proceedingo considera non[-]urisdictionalground.” Shea ] 748
F.3dat 346 (Srinivansan, J., concurringmphasisn original) (quotingChalabiv. Hashemite
Kingdom of Jordan543 F.3d 725, 72@.C. Cir. 2008)). And whenit comesto theFCA, even
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G. Dismissal Without Prejudice

One procedural matter remains: whether dismissal of Relator’s claims shouith loe w
without prejudice. Defendants ConServe, Protocol, State, Pioneer, Edgewateandass
Alorica/GRSI seek dismissal with prejudicBeeConServe Mem. 19; Protocol Mem. 38; State
Mem. 40; Edgewater Proposed Order 1, ECF No. 87-1; Bass Proposed Order 1, ECF No. 85-1;
Alorica/GRSI Mem. 43.Relatorseeks leave to amend any pleading deficiencies. Qpp’'n
ConServe, Protocol, and State 55; Opp’n to Pioneer, Edgewater, and Bass 35; Opp’n to
GRSI/Alorica, Uniquity, and PRC 42. For the following reasons, the Court will dish@ss

claims without prejudicé?

the earlier version of “the public-disclosurar at mostestablished statutoryjurisdictional
limitation, notanAtrticle Il limitation.” Id.

In addition, until such time, if ever, that Relator amends its pleading to chdréye and
when the alleged conduct giving rise to liability occurred, the Court reservesgotigm
concerning personal jurisdiction, which ConServe, Protocol, and State challenge, and venue
which Protocol and State challenge, pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedy)(2)l&{d
12(b)(3), respectively. Defendants may reassert their original angsimeresponse to any
futurepleading. However, if Relator decides to amend its complaint, it should note that the
Court believes that the allegations of personal jurisdiction are thin.

41 One final matter remains pendirtgetwo motions for judicial notice by ConServe,
ECF No. 92, and Relator, ECF No. 98 respectively. ConServe filed an unopposed motion for the
Court totake judicial notice of a decisions by the Small Business Administration, Reld&ie
of formation, and information concerning Protocol’s certifications on sam.§eeECF No. 92.
Relator requests that the Court consider certification statemausfilDefendant Uniquity
between 2013-2015, ECF No. 98, which Defendant Uniquity contests on the grounds that the
allegations against it lodged in the amended complaint end in 2013, ECF No. 108. Because the
Court resolves the issues in the manner previously detailed, these motions a@aslemet.
Relator may include allegations concerning these matters in an amended coamgplain
Defendants may reaise the same arguments for dismissal, to the extent applicable, in ary futur
response to ansuchamemed complaint.See Si,INo. CIV.A. 09-2388 KBJ, 2013 WL
4478953, at *2 (D.D.C. Aug. 21, 2013) (permitting defendants fmesent same arguments
after finding that relator’'s complaint did not satisfy Rule 9(b) pleading standa

42 Defendant Protocol has sought dismissal without prejudice on an additional ground not
previously discussed: improper service of process. Protocol Merd7 3aieging untimely
service in violation of Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 4(m) and 12(b)(5) andgeeki
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In this casethe Court dismisses RelatoFA claims due to the failure to satisfy
pleading standards.Otdinarily, a plaintiff may overcome the failure to satisfy pleading
standards by amending her compldinbhea ] 160 F. Supp. 3d at 31 (citifigrestonev.
Firestone,76 F.3d 1205, 1209 (D.C. Cir. 1996More specifically, nder this Circuit’s
controlling law, “failure to plead fraud with particularity'the basis on which this Court grants
Defendants’ motions—“does not support a dismissal with prejudioghe contrary, leave to
amer is ‘almost alwaysallowed to cure deficiencies in pleading fraudritestone 76 F.3d at
1209 (quotind-uce v. EdelsteirB02 F.2d 49, 56 (2d Cir. 1986)). Only if the trial court
“determineghat ‘the allegation of other facts consistent with thelehgkd pleading could not

possibly cure the deficiency is dismissal with prejudice appropriate(quotingJarrell v.
United States Postal Serv53 F.2d 1088, 1091 (D.C. Cir. 1985}lere, because the allegation
of further facts might cure the identified deficiencdfakhough the Court has its doubts, given
the length of the investigation and Relator’s counsel’s central role in the gatest), the Court
sees no reason to deviate from the general rule. Thus, it grants the modiensige without
prejudice and grants Relator leave to amé&ndomplaint.
V. CONCLUSION

Fortheforegoingreasonsthe CourtGRANTS the parties’ joint motion to dismiss claims
against Defendant West Corporation (ECF No. GRANTS Defendants’ motions to siniss
(ECF Nos. 79, 81, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 91, and PENIES AS MOOT Defendant ConServe’s

motion for judicial notice (ECF No. 92); almENIES AS MOOT Relator PCA Integrity’s

motion for judicial notice (ECF No. 98Relator may, within thirty days of igopinion, file an

dismis&l without prejudice). Because the delay was short and Relator’s brietssggod
faith efforts to serve process, the Court declines to grant dismissal orotlmisl g
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amended complaintAn order consisterwith this Memorandum Opiniois separatly and

contemporaneously issued.

Dated: February 11, 2020 RUDOLPHCONTRERAS
United StateDistrict Judge
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